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Corporate Information
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HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

No.2, Jiangshan Road
Meicheng Town
Jiande County
Hangzhou City
Zhejiang Province
PRC
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IN HONG KONG

Suites 4404-10, 44/F

One Island East

18 Westlands Road, Taikoo Place
Hong Kong
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TRANSFER OFFICE
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year” or
"Reporting Period”), the revenue of the Group was
approximately RMB570,572,000 (2022: RMB501,437,000),
representing an increase of approximately RMB69,135,000 or
13.8% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Prior Year").

The gross profit of the Group for the Year was approximately
RMB233,383,000 (2022: RMB193,698,000), representing
an increase of approximately RMB39,685,000 or 20.5% as
compared to the Prior Year.

For the Year, the Group recorded net profit of approximately
RMB24,874,000 as compared to the net profit of approximately
RMB39,618,000 for the Prior Year. Profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company was approximately RMB19,451,000
(2022: RMB21,851,000).

The basic and diluted earning per share was RMB4.11 cents
(2022: basic and diluted earning per share was RMB9.14 cents
(restated)).

The Board has resolved not to declare the final dividend for the
Year.

Financial Highlights
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Statement from the Board of Directors

EESSHHE

To all shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Diwang
Industrial Holdings Limited (the “Company”), we are pleased
to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the Year.

The year 2023 was marked by intense global uncertainty
due to the political instability between Russia and Ukraine
negatively affected the trading environment and the financial
industry, resulting in rising interest rates. These challenges,
including economic uncertainty, market volatility, and
unpredictable geopolitical tensions, are expected to continue
to impact the global economy in 2024.

During the Year, the Group has engaged in the research and
development, manufacturing and sale of coating agents and
synthetic resins (the “"Faux Leather Chemicals Business”)
and producing and sale of Chinese liqguor products (the
“Chinese Liquor Business”). Throughout the Reporting
Period, the domestic economy of Mainland China is facing
a challenging internal and external environment, which has
led to a decline in the economic growth rate. Our production
and operation of faux leather chemicals encountered
certain challenges during the Reporting Period. Our revenue
generated from the Faux Leather Chemicals Business remained
stable during the Year as we put more effort on the sales
and marketing activities. Besides, to diversify our sources
of income, we commenced the Chinese Liquor Business at
the second quarter of 2022. The Chinese Liquor Business
continued to experience the sharp growth due to the increase
in demand of Chinese baijiu products. Therefore, it is expected
that sales of the baijiu products will become a more significant
part of the Group's revenue.

To address the challenges of the market, the Company
has implemented a range of measures, both internally
and externally. Internally, the Company has strengthened
management, invested in research and development,
developed high-tech and high value-added products,
improved internal skills, and increased efficiency. Externally,
the Company has adjusted production and operation plans
in response to market changes, focused on developing brand
customers, explored new markets, and improved product
and customer structure, as well as research and development
and management. These combined efforts have helped to
accumulate momentum for growth and development.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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Statement from the Board of Directors

The Group is committed to vigorously growing and developing
its existing businesses. Specifically, the Group aims to maintain
sustainable growth in the Chinese liquor industry and
strengthen its market position in the faux leather chemicals
manufacturing industry. In the long run, the Group plans
to enhance its overall competitiveness and market share by
strengthening premium long-term relationships with existing
customers, proactively developing new customers, continuing
to strengthen research and development capabilities, and
expanding its product portfolio and geographical coverage.

APPRECIATION

Finally, we would like to express our gratitude to all employees,
shareholders and business partners of the Group. As we
venture into the future, the Group will continue to seize
opportunities and create long-term value for our shareholders
and the society.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group engaged in two primary business
activities: the Faux Leather Chemicals Business and the Chinese
Liguor Business.

FAUX LEATHER CHEMICALS BUSINESS

Revenue generated from the Faux Leather Chemicals Business
amounted to approximately RMB262,546,000 for the Year
(2022: RMB260,245,000), which remained stable as compared
to the Prior Year. The gross profit of this segment for the Year
was approximately RMB55,489,000 (2022: RMB40,760,000).

The gross profit margin increased from approximately 15.7%
to approximately 21.1% for the Year, which was mainly
attributable to the overall decrease of the cost of raw materials
during the Year.

Selling and distribution expenses for the Year were
approximately RMB12,920,000 (2022: RMB9,427,000). The
increase in selling and distribution expenses was mainly due
to the increase in sales and marketing activities. Selling and
distribution expenses for the Year accounted for approximately
4.92% (2022 approximately 3.62%) of the segment revenue.
Segment profit was approximately RMB21,505,000 (2022:
RMB11,679,000).

CHINESE LIQUOR BUSINESS

The Group began manufacturing and selling of Chinese
baijiu products in the PRC with a view to exploring business
opportunities in the food and beverage business in the PRC in
year 2022.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Year, our Chinese Liquor Business was mainly
operated by EMF M EEBZEBR A A (Guizhou
Dichiwang Sauce And Wine Company Limited*) (“Guizhou
Dichiwang”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
was established under the laws of the PRC in which the Group
indirectly owns 70.5% of its equity interest and # R & $2 XX
fbEEABREMTAA (Hunan Jinkai Culture Communication
Company Limited*) owns 29.50% of its equity interest and a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company by 18 F &
BEBFR AT (Fujian Wangchidi Sauce And Wine Company
Limited*) (“Fujian Wangchidi”) established under the laws of
PRC.

In operating the Chinese Liquor Business, we focus on the
development of drinking formula, design and brand-building
strategy of the baijiu products and as such, we procure all
necessary raw materials via the materials procurement services
provided by an independent wine factory in producing the
Chinese baijiu products and outsources the manufacturing
process to such independent wine factory to produce
the Chinese baijiu products via an original equipment
manufacturer arrangement.

Our Chinese baijiu products comprise a comprehensive range
of aromatic-flavour baijiu products formulated by us with
varied packaging, alcohol content, design, taste, etc. with
competitive prices targeting the young to middle-aged public
to middle class consumer market in the PRC.

During the Year, the segment revenue from Chinese Liquor
Business increased for approximately RMB66,834,000 or
27.7% from approximately RMB241,192,000 for the Prior
Year to approximately RMB308,026,000 for the Year. The
gross profit was approximately RMB177,894,000 (2022:
RMB152,398,000) after accounting for the cost of raw
materials and production fee. The Company promotes and
explores sales channels of its Chinese baijiu products by (i)
placing advertisements at airports, train stations and online
media platforms; and (ii) hosting wine tasting events and
various wine exhibitions and wine trade fairs in the PRC.
Segment profit was approximately RMB23,407,000 (2022:
RMB82,813,000)

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare the final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

* English translation of the name for identification only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE D

PROSPECT

Our Business Strategies and Future Prospects

The year 2023 was marked by intense global uncertainty
due to the political instability between Russia and Ukraine
negatively affected the trading environment and the financial
industry, resulting in rising interest rates. These challenges,
including economic uncertainty, market volatility, and
unpredictable geopolitical tensions, are expected to continue
to impact the global economy in 2024.

In forecasting for China’s economic growth in the year 2024,
providing the factors of optimization and adjustment of
epidemic prevention policies will improve China’s and global
economic growth prospects.

In short term, there are favorable conditions for the overall
improvement of China’s economy in 2024: First, with
the continuous optimization of epidemic prevention and
control measures, scenario-based consumption and contact
consumption will resume and grow quickly, and overall
consumption will continue to recover; Secondly, infrastructure
and manufacturing investment will continue to maintain a
rapid growth in post pandemic period; thirdly, the effects of
a series of policies implemented since late 2022 will continue
to stabilize growth, employment and prices which may further
promote economic recovery and development. From a long-
term perspective, China’s economy has strong resilience, great
potential and vitality, while its long-term fundamentals remain
unchanged.

Given an optimistic forecast of the macroeconomics in China
consumption market, our Group aims to further enhance our
market shares through strategic management, development
and expansion of our two core businesses as well as establish
protective measures in a sustainable perspective.

The Group will continue to enhance its overall competitiveness
and market share by strengthening its premium long-term
relationship with existing customers, proactively developing
new customers, continuing to strengthen its research and
development capabilities and further expanding our product
portfolio and geographical coverage. The Group also expects
the business environment to be more challenging in the near
future. The Group will continue to develop the Faux Leather
Chemicals Business and maintain a sustainable growth in the
faux leather chemicals manufacturing industry.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Meanwhile, the Group sees the opportunities in expansion
of our Chinese Liquor Business in coping with the expected
growth in consumption capacity. Our Group’s Chinese liquor
products were repositioned and renamed with our in-house
brands “Dihuangchi” (5 2) and “Dilongchi” (78 t)
to effectively target specific customer segments and replace
the brand “Diwang Chi” (#E#) for the Group’s Chinese
liquor products with effect from 14 September 2023. Through
this brand strategy adjustment, we aim to enhance our market
competitiveness, increase company value, and achieve long-term
sustainable development. Also, on 15 September 2023, Fujian
Wangchidi, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with {Z[ZE
ST ILB 2B PR 2R (Renhuai Qingjiangshan Wine Company
Limited*) (“Renhuai Qingjiangshan Wine”), a company
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China, pursuant to which
the parties (or their designated subsidiaries) entered into a 10-
year cooperation plan for Renhuai Qingjiangshan Wine's self-
brand “Qingjiangshan” series of products for giving impetus
to the research, production, sales and market expansion of its
sauce and wine products. Renhuai Qingjiangshan Wine currently
has more than 30 franchised stores. It supports these stores
with digital-driven technology for traditional sales channels and
provides customized service, bottling service and other services for
the high-end customers. Our sales channels are also expanding
through implementation of various marketing strategies and
advertisement. The Company believes that the Chinese Liquor
Business will contribute a more significant value to the Company
and its shareholders as a whole.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current assets were
approximately RMB548,637,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB307,921,000), mainly comprising cash and bank balances
(including pledged bank deposits), inventories, trade and
bills receivables, prepayments, deposits and other receivables
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The
Group’s current liabilities were approximately RMB95,582,000
(31 December 2022: RMB95,585,000). The current ratio
(the ratio of current assets to current liabilities) increased
from approximately 3.22 times as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately 5.74 times as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings were approximately
RMB25,000,000 (31 December 2022: RMB10,000,000)
which of which RMB10,000,000 carried at a fixed rate
and RMB15,000,000 curried at a variable rate. The bank
borrowings were denominated in RMB.

* English translation of the name for identification only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE D

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio is the ratio of net debt divided by total
equity. Net debt is calculated as total debt net of cash and cash
equivalents. As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
net cash position (31 December 2022: the Group recorded a
net cash position) and hence, no gearing ratio is computed for
the end of the Year.

Capital expenses

During the Year, the Group’s capital expenditure was
approximately RMB14,983,000, representing a decrease of
RMB12,610,000 as compared to that of RMB27,593,000 in the
Prior Year. Capital expenditure relates primarily to the purchase
of plant and equipment.

Capital Commitments

The capital commitments not provided for in the
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2023
was RMB1,614,000 (31 December 2022: RMB1,044,000),
which represented the purchase of plant and machinery and
automated transformation contracts.

Capital structure

The number of issued ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) as at 31 December 2023 was 720,000,000 Shares
(31 December 2022: 1,440,000,000 Shares).

The authorised share capital of the Company as at
31 December 2023 was US$5,000,000 divided into
2,000,000,000 Shares with par value of US$0.0025 each (31
December 2022: US$1,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000
Shares of par value of US$0.0005 each).

Share Consolidation

On 5 March 2023, the Company announced a proposed share
consolidation on the basis that every five existing Shares of par
value of US$0.0005 each into one consolidated share of par
value of US$0.0025 each (the “Consolidated Share”) in the
share capital of the Company (the “Share Consolidation”)
and increase in authorised share capital of the Company (the
“Increase in Authorised Share Capital”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Upon the Share Consolidation became effective on 30 May
2023, the authorised share capital of the Company became
US$1,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 Consolidated Shares
with par value of US$0.0025 each, of which 288,000,000
Consolidated Shares were in issue and fully paid or credited
as fully paid. Immediately following the Share Consolidation,
the authorised share capital of the Company increased from
US$1,000,000 to US$5,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000
Consolidated Shares by the creation of an additional
1,600,000,000 Consolidated Shares.

Details of the Share Consolidation and the Increase in Authorised
Share Capital were set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 5 March 2023, 18 April 2023, 5 May 2023, 29 May 2023,
30 May 2023 and circular dated 5 May 2023.

Rights Issue

On 5 March 2023, the Company announced a proposed rights
issue on the basis of three rights shares (the “Rights Shares”)
for every two Shares in issue at a subscription price of HK$0.67
per Rights Share (the “Rights Issue”) to raise for approximately
HK$289.440,000 million by issuing 432,000,000 Rights Shares to
the qualifying shareholders. One valid acceptance and application
had been received for a total of 1,128,309 Rights Shares. The
Company has, pursuant to Rule 7.21(1)(b) of the Listing Rules,
made the compensatory arrangements by entering into a placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent (the
“Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the Company conditionally
appointed the Placing Agent and the Placing Agent conditionally
agreed to act as the placing agent for the Company to procure,
on a best effort basis, placees to subscribe for the 430,871,691
untaken shares (“Untaken Shares”) in accordance with the
terms of the Placing Agreement. As all the 430,871,691 Untaken
Shares were successfully placed at the price of HK$0.67 per Share
under the placing to more than six placees.

On 28 July 2023, the Company allotted and issued 432,000,000
Rights Shares at subscription price of HK$0.67 per Rights Shares,
representing 100% of the total number of Rights Shares offered
for subscription under the Rights Issue. The subscription price of
the Rights Shares was approximately a premium of 1.52% over
the theoretical closing price of HK$0.66 per Share (after taking into
account the effect of the Share Consolidation) based on the closing
price of HK$0.132 per share as quoted on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 3 March 2023,
being the last trading day). The net proceeds from the Rights
Issue (after deducting the estimated expenses) were approximately
HK$286.55 million, representing a net price of approximately
HK$0.663 per Rights Share. The analysis of the intended use and the
status of the net proceeds up to the date of this report is as below.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE D

Upon completion of the Rights Issue on 28 July 2023, the
number of Shares in issue became 720,000,000 of par value
US$0.0025 each thereafter.

Details of the Rights Issue were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 5 March 2023, 18 April 2023, 5 May
2023, 30 May 2023, 3 July 2023, 27 July 2023, circular dated
5 May 2023 and prospectus dated 9 June 2023.

The analysis of the intended use and the status of the net
proceeds up to the date of this report is as below.

Use of Proceeds from the Rights Issue

HARH2023FE7A28A A B B (TR
8B HE 1% /&720,000,0000% ' G E &
0.0025% 7T °

HBEFHFBHN AR HEA2023F3 75
B 202394 H18H +2023F5A5H 2023
F5A30H 202397 A3H 2023F7H27
B2 A% 2023F585H 2 K &%20234F
6AIRZHRERR -

B EARHE B BTG HRIA 2 8 5E Ak Kk
RZDITERT X

HRZFABRERE

Actual use of

Net proceeds

Intended  proceeds up to  unutilised as at
uses of  the date of this  the date of this
proceeds report report
HK$ HK$ HK$
BZ
AREBL REHEEH
FEME FRBRE XBRAME
Intended uses RERZ RERZ ERRR NEFE
B B BT
Business development of the Chinese ~ FBEHKH£HERE:
Liquor Business:
- Setting up four ancient-Chinese-style  — £ B B 2% 70 i op [ /&N S £
bistros in the PRC 20,000,000 20,000,000 -
~ Working capital in operating four bistros — [0 & & B /N E 8RB 4 74 7 &
upon their opening EES 8,550,000 - 8,550,000
- Launching sizeable advertising ~EHETRMEREARES
campaigns across different districts in =~ S &)
the PRC 100,000,000 100,000,000 -
- Payment of manufacturing cost to the  —RAETIBHE N EEKL 81
wine factory including a) cost of raw Q)RR R A < b)iN T B A Foc)
materials; b) processing fee and c) BAREA
packaging fee 100,000,000 100,000,000 -
Business development of the Faux Leather AT Bt EREBNERERE:
Chemicals Business:
— Repayment of bank borrowings —-EBEETEE 11,500,000 11,500,000 -
- Investment in automation system —REBEES 11,000,000 6,890,000 4,110,000
- Addition of production facilities — I EG 17,000,000 2,965,000 14,035,000
— Improvement in product quality -RAERSE 3,500,000 3,500,000 -
— Procurement of raw materials —-HEBRHH 15,000,000 13,877,000 1,123,000
286,550,000 258,732,000 27,818,000
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at the date of this announcement, approximately
RMB267,282,000 of the net proceeds from the Rights Issue
have been used in the same manner and proportions as set out
in the section headed “Reasons for the Rights Issue, the Placing
and the Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company
dated 9 June 2023 and approximately RMB27,818,000 of the
net proceeds from the Rights Issue remain unutilized.

Use of Proceeds from placing of new Shares under
general mandate on 29 August 2022 (the “Placing 2022")

On 29 August 2022, 240,000,000 Shares (the “Placing
Shares”) were allotted and issued by the Company to the
placees who were independent third parties under general
mandate of the placing price of HK$0.180 per Placing Shares.
The net proceeds from the Placing 2022 was approximately
HK$42,580,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB36,948,000),
representing a net price of approximately HK$0.177 per Placing
Shares.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has fully utilised the
net proceeds from Placing for the purposes as listed below.

EEENWE D

RARNEBE  BEEAMEFIEFEZHOAR
#267,282,0007C B # A~ &) H Hi 52023
FoAIRZHKRER (MR IBH BBES
BRTEHREBERAR] A ZHERAR
M BIE A AR EASERIBFE 2L
AR #27,818,000 T3 AE A -

R2022F8R29H RIE—REREEEH K
% ([2022FBMEFE ) 2FMIBRERARE
2022498 H29H © 240,000,0008% % 15
(IRERND]) EZREREERKH0.180/8
TTZEEERARRIRE R ERE R
BT TBEME= 2EBRA - 2022F 8
& EIE TS A F REH A42,580,0007 7T
(FE R4 A R%36,948,0007T) @ HHE R
BREERND 2 FER/N0NTTETT

HZE2023F128310 AR DIR T H
BERYEBAREEBE MR FE-

Actual use of

Intended  proceeds up to
uses of 31 December
proceeds 2023
HK$ HK$
BZ2023%
12A31RH
RERE P& &E
Intended uses RERZ RERAR ERAR
BT BT
Business development of the Chinese Liquor ABEBNEREE:
Business:
- Launching Chinese baijiu products tasting and ~ —BRABEERRELENTHURERE
recommendation events for expanding customer P E R ESK
base and sales network 10,000,000 10,000,000
- Procurement of raw materials to manufacture - RERVENEEAEENAEESR
the Group’s Chinese baijiu products 11,290,000 11,290,000
General working capital: —KeEES:
- Staff cost —-BIMA 11,290,000 11,290,000
- Selling and distribution expenses - HERDHEAX 5,000,000 5,000,000
— Other office overhead and general corporate —HEt A k—RARAR
purposes 5,000,000 5,000,000
42,580,000 42,580,000
TIBEERERAT —T=FFRH
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE D

All the proceeds of approximately RMB36.948,000 million have
been used in the same manner and proportions as set out in
the section headed “intended uses of proceeds”.

Details of the Placing 2022 were set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 28 June 2022, 18 July 2022, 27 July
2022, 5 August 2022, 24 August 2022 and 29 August 2022.

Share Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 10
February 2020 pursuant to which the total number of Shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 100,000,000 Shares.
Following the effect of the Share Consolidation on 30 May
2023, the options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall not exceed 20,000,000 Shares.

The scheme mandate limit had not been refreshed and no
options were granted since the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme.

INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had invested in the
shares of companies listed on the Stock Exchange with a total
carrying amount of approximately RMB9,522,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$10,508,000) (31 December 2022:
RMB7,763,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,690,000)).
The Board considers any single investment with fair value
accounting for more than 5% of the total assets of the Group
as a significant investment. As the Group did not have any
single investment accounting for 5% or more of the total
assets of the Group as at 31 December 2023, the Group did
not have any significant investments as at 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The portfolio of equity investments as at 31 December 2023
are set out as follows.

EEENwmROW
R2023F 12 A31H MR EREHES T

Percentage of
fair value of the
investment in
listed securities/
total assets of

Fair value of the
investment in

Unrealised fair  listed securities

value loss as at asat the Group as at
Investment 31 December 31 December 31 December
cost 2023 2023 2023
R2023F
R2023F R2023F 12A31A L
12A31H 123182 BERENY
ZRBE LHERREZ BEEEE
REME ATEER ATE BEEERIL

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT

Financial assets at fair value AT (B ABEZ

through profit or loss CREE 18,951 (9,429) 9,522 1.27%

During the Reporting Period, details of the performance of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

RBEHN RAFEFABZZEZHE
EZRBFBOT:

Realised fair
value gain/(loss)
for the year

Unrealised fair
value gain/(loss)
for the year

Dividend
received during

ended ended the year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2023 2023
Bz2023F BZz2023F
12A31ALEEZ 12A3MALEER HZz2023F
EERAVE AEBRATFE NANALEE
Description of investments RE®M Wi/ (F8) i/ (B1]) KEZRE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL AREFL ARETL
Listed securities in Hong Kong BEELMES 4,032 (2,181) -

In view of the recent volatility in the securities market, the
Directors expect the stock market will remain volatile in the
coming year and the Group will continue to adopt the cautious
approach in making investment decision in securities trading so
as to obtain a balance between risk and return.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and capital assets during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

ENORBLFTHNE EFAHRFR
EMHNHRE AEEMEEFRR HIK
BORTE B A S A B IR ERE B - LA
@ N [B] i 2 B BUAS F o

Br ESCRTiEEE A SN B2 2023F 128316
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BLREEHBAR HMERR AL ER
BAREE-
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EEENWE D

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, we did not record any material hire
purchase commitments, contingent liabilities, guarantees or
litigations against us.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK AND MANAGEMENT

The Group's sales and purchases are mainly denominated
in RMB. The Group retains some of its foreign currency
denominated funds, which are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. Fluctuations in exchange rates have an impact on
the foreign currency reserve and the Company is exploring and
discussing measures to cope with the foreign exchange risk.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not enter into any
financial instruments to hedge foreign exchange.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 208 (2022:
200) employees. The Group offers its employees competitive
remuneration packages based on industry practices and performance
of individual employees. Year-end discretionary bonuses may be
granted to reward and motivate those well-performed employees.

The Group provides employee benefits in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations. As required by the PRC laws and
regulations, the Group participates in various employee social
security plans for our employees that are administered by local
governments, including housing, pension, medical insurance,
maternity insurance and unemployment insurance. The Group
believes that it maintains a good working relationship with its
employees. The employees in Hong Kong are members of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong Kong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING PERIOD
The acquisition of Properties (the “Acquisition”)

On 9 October 2023, Zhejiang Sunlight Material Technology Co.,
Ltd. (the “Purchaser”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the property transfer agreement with
Hangzhou Qiyue Investment Management Co., Ltd. (the “Vendor”),
pursuant to which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire
and the Vendor has conditionally agreed to transfer all rights and
risks of the premises located at unit nos. 1601, 1602, 1603 and
1604 on Level 16 and unit nos. 1701, 1702, 1703 and 1704 on
Level 17, Block No. 1 (also known as “E1") of Zhihui Zhongchuang
Center, No. 3 Xiyuan 8th Road, ZJU Rainforest, Core Area of Zijin
Innovation Town, Sandun Town, Xihu District, Hangzhou City,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC (the “Properties”) (including the rights
to apply for the relevant certificates of ownership in respect of the
Properties) to the Purchaser at a consideration of RMB30,000,000.
The transaction was completed on 7 February 2024 (the
"Completion”). Following the Completion, the relevant ownership
certificates of the Properties have been issued in the name of the
Purchaser, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Vendor is
wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Hua, an executive Director. Therefore, the
Vendor is an associate of Mr. Chen Hua and accordingly, a connected
person of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing
Rules. As such, the Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Acquisition were set out in the announcement
dated 9 October 2023, the circular dated 10 November 2023,
the delay in Completion announcements dated 29 December
2023 and 31 January 2024 and the Completion announcement
dated 7 February 2024.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEhEREEEBRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Hua (FRZE % 4%), aged 50, is an executive
Director, also an executive director and general manager of
Zhejiang Sunlight. Mr. Chen is responsible for overseeing our
day-to-day management and business operation, formulating
business strategies and making major operational decisions of
our Group.

Mr. Chen was awarded a bachelor’s degree in mechanical
engineering from Zhejiang University (#T/ZK2) of the
PRC. He was awarded the qualification of senior economist*
(= A4 ERD) by the Zhejiang Province Economic Series
Advanced Professional Technical Positions Employment
Qualification Review Committee* GIIE&E R SHE
ERMBBEREBRTELZEE) in December 2018. Mr.
Chen has been engaged in the chemical engineering industry
for more than 20 years. From January 2000 to May 2006,
Mr. Chen was employed by Hangzhou Rainbow Colour Paste
Co., Ltd.* (MM HEHFEHFHR A F), a manufacturer of
colourants, resins, finishes and additives for synthetic leather
and textiles, as a general manager. Mr. Chen joined Zhejiang
Sunlight in July 2006 and took up positions as a director and
the general manager. Mr. Chen was also the general manager
of Huzhou Milan Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (J#
MAKEREEEABRAR) (formerly known as Hangzhou
Sunlight Chemical Co., Ltd.* (MM FENLTHERRF))
("Huzhou Milan”), a then manufacturer of chemical products,
from January 2005 to July 2006, responsible for its overall
management and formulation of business strategies, and was
its supervisor from November 2007 to July 2010, respectively.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel (##83), aged 31, was
appointed as executive Director on 25 May 2022. Mr. Lam
obtained a Master's degree of Corporate Governance from
Saint Francis University and a Bachelor's degree of Commerce
(Finance and Marketing) from University of Auckland, New
Zealand. He has extensive experience in equity capital market
especially in securities brokerage operations, securities
financing, and equity dealings with other financial institutions.
Mr. Lam has worked in several securities’ brokerage firms
in Hong Kong from 2016 to early 2022 and as a licensed
representative for Type 1 (Dealing in securities) regulated
activity under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). From February
2022 to November 2022, Mr. Lam was employed by
OnePlatform Asset Management Limited and was responsible
for anti-money laundering and know your customer due
diligence work during his employment. Mr. Lam is currently
a licensed representative for Type 9 (Asset management)
regulated activities under the SFO of VC International
Asset Management Limited (Formerly known as Anli Asset
Management Limited).

Mr. Lam is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance
Professional and an Associate of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as “The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries”) and The Chartered
Governance Institute.

Mr. Tse Chun Chung (#HE™®), aged 44, was appointed
as executive Director on 25 May 2022. Mr. Tse obtained
a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of
California, Irvine and has over 16 years of experience in retail
banking. From July 2014 to February 2016, Mr. Tse was a
senior relationship manager at China Construction Bank. Mr.
Tse was also the relationship manager of Dah Sing Bank and
Nanyang Commercial Bank from February 2016 to April 2018
and from August 2019 to March 2021, respectively.
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EEhEREEEBRE

Mr. Sun Jingang (#&HMl), aged 57, was appointed
as executive Director on 25 May 2022. The operation of
the Chinese Liquor Business is currently managed by a
management team led by Mr. Sun. The composition of the
management team consists of experience professionals in
sales and market, business management, operation and
management of production plant and alcohol-related research
and technology, quality management and wine tasting. Mr.
Sun has over 10 years in company promotion and company
brand planning. From January 2010 to December 2018, Mr.
Sun was the general manager of Weishan Qiandao Lake
Wetland Scenic Spot* (#ILF &#MEHFE) and was
mainly responsible for the development of the scenic spot. Mr.
Sun is currently the general manager of Jiangsu Huazhikang
Health Technology Group Co., Ltd.* (L& 2 2 FERHE &
EABMRAF) and Jiangsu Hengyangkang Health Technology
Co., Ltd.* (IEREERERBHEBRAE) since November
2019 and since February 2021 respectively. From April 2021 to
23 May 2022, Mr. Sun was the director of Xuzhou Yuandao
Health Technology Co., Ltd.* (fR/NTTBEREERIZARAR]) .

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Au Hei Ching (BEfE¥E%4%), aged 39, was appointed
as independent non-executive Director on 25 January 2022.
Mr. Au obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration
(Honours) in Business Economics from the City University of
Hong Kong and has over 15 years of experience in finance
and asset management. Mr. Au has been a financial risk
manager of the Global Association of Risk Professionals
since 2011. From October 2007 to August 2010, Mr. Au
worked as principal business development officer at a bank
in Hong Kong. Since October 2010, Mr. Au has worked as
SFC licensed representative and responsible officer in various
licensed corporations. He has extensive experience in asset
management, external asset management, advising on risk
management strategies, supervising daily securities brokerage
operations and providing advisory services to investors.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace (ZWEHi%4%), aged 42,
was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 25
January 2022. He obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce
(Accounting) from the University of Queensland, Australia
and has over 19 years of experience in financial reporting,
investment analysis, merger & acquisition exercises and business
development. He has been a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since 2009 and a fellow
member since 2014. From November 2017 to June 2020, he
was an independent non-executive director of Chuan Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1420), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From February 2020 to
December 2022, he was an independent non-executive director
of Asia Television Holdings Limited (stock code: 707), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
From September 2020 to April 2023, he was an independent
non-executive director of Kirin Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8109), the shares of which are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange. From January 2021 to November 2023, he
was an independent non-executive director of Kafelaku Coffee
Holding Limited (formerly known as Li Bao Ge Group Limited)
(stock code: 1869), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. From September 2017 to February
2024, he was an independent non-executive director of Hybrid
Kinetic Group Limited (stock code: 1188), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From
February 2024 to April 2024, he was a joint company secretary
of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited (stock code: 1188), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Huang Zhenming (ZEIREA KL 4%E), aged 55, was
appointed as independent non-executive Director on 24 January
2024. He obtained a Bachelor of civil engineering from the
Department of Civil Engineering of Guangxi University in 1990
and has over 33 years of experience in corporate investment
and business development. From 1999 to 2007, he served as
Chairman of Chengdu Sanhuan Investment Company (X
#=IRWE A F]) . From 2008 to 2012, he was the general
manager of Chongging Dazu Creative Industry Investment
Development Co., Ltd (EEAXCEIEEXKREREEBRA
A]) . From 2014 to 2022, he served as President of Shanghai
Ou Zhuoya Enterprise Development Group Co., Ltd (_E/&E
SHMCEER (£B)ERAF). Mr. Huang is currently the
president of Shanghai Yulin Chamber of Commerce (/&
EMEE), executive president of Shanghai Guangxi Chamber
of Commerce (LBMEFEEE), vice president of Guangxi
Yulin Overseas Friendship Association (& 78 & #k )& 9 B
FHE ), vice chairman of Yulin City Federation of Industry and
Commerce ( E#T L), and member of the Yulin City
Yuzhou District CPPCC (EMH EMREIHEE) .

EENGREEEBE

R L 4258 1R2022F 1 A25HEZ
EAEBYIERTERT - TEERBMNEL
BMAEBNEHEL (25 B WRFK
AR - WEDHT  HIEEARERERS
MIEBI9OF AL - H2009F £ I A KR
BHARSTMAE2EE RE20145F 8
KABEREE-82017F11 8 202096
A EEEENERERAR (RO :
1420) 2 WU FERITE R ZRAI 2D
REEZ AT EMR 77 B2020%F2 A £2022
FNRA HKALDMNERZERERAF (K&
MRSR:707) 2 BUIERITES  Z A F)
OB TR ETH e B2020F9 A&
2023F4R B RAEBEBEIERAER QA
(BRI :8109) 2 B IEITESE %
RAIZ RO R B R FTGEM_ETH c B§20214F
1TAZE2023F 11 A BAIERMEIERAE
AR (FIBAMERSEBRAR) (B
5% :1869) 2 BUIFMITES - ZRAZ
PR BRI ER EThe 82017697 =
2024F2 8 AEEEEER AR (KD
RS 1188) 2 BUIERITTES L RA)Z
BORBIAMERLET - R _HF =
A -WFNNA FThEELATTESE
AR AR (BDHSR: 1188) 2Bt F A B FY
E ZRRZBMDRB T ER LT

EIRBA L L - 555% 0 R2024F 1 H24H %
ZERBUIFNITES - FHELEN1990F
BEERAE+tAIRETAIRES
B RNEERENHERRES T AHEA A
33F 48 B o B19994F £20074F + B HEEK
MR ERFIEE K - H52008F £2012
F RARERACRAEEXEREREER
NE)ZHERTR o 520144 B20224F 1R 1E
FLEREHAEERE (KB8)BRARZ
B -EAERBETC LT IAE S
R-bEEmMEAmENTER BAEMND
BHNBECEER - EMT IEBEI R
AN ERTEMNERBHES -

FIBXRERARNE —Bo=FFH

23



24

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEhEREEEBRE

Ms. Zhou Xiaochun (B®&&Z <L), aged 66, was appointed
as independent non-executive Director on 25 January 2022.
She has over 42 years of experience in alcohol-related research
and technology, product and quality management. Since 1980,
Ms. Zhou has been engaged in wine-related professional
technology work at Jiangxi Jinggang Winery Industry Co.,
Ltd.*r CIFHAREBEZARETAA), where she currently
holds the position of chief engineer. Ms. Zhou was accredited
as a senior engineer in the field of chemistry by the Jiangxi
Occupational Titles Reform Work Leading Group* (L
ERLFEENESEE/NH)  in November 2000. In March 2012,
she obtained the Occupational Qualification Certificate in
wine tasting. From November 2016 to November 2021, Ms.
Zhou was a panelist of the 9th National Baijiu Spirit Panel
of the China National Food Industry Association. She was
also a national occupational skills appraisal senior examiner
for winemakers and sommeliers between October 2018 and
October 2021. In September 2020, Ms. Zhou was appointed
as the team leader of the Jiangxi Province 12th Chinese Baijiu
Expert Panel* (IFAEE+_EHBEXM) by the Jiangxi
Food Industry Association.

COMPANY SECRETARY OF THE COMPANY

Mr. Wong Ka Sing, aged 36, appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company following the resignation of Mr.
Chan Ming Kei with effective from 1 March 2024. Obtained
a degree of Master in Finance from University of Hong
Kong and a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
in Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. He is
currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and is also a licensed person registered
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") to carry out Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activity.

He has extensive experience in the areas of accounting,
auditing and corporate finance. Mr. Wong is currently the
director and the responsible officer of Euto Capital Partners
Limited, a licensed corporation registered under the SFO to
carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activity, since August 2023 and the company secretary of King
International Investment Limited (stock code: 928).

*  For identification purpose only
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Reporting Period. Certain information set out in this annual
report are disclosed up to the date of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other details of the subsidiaries
of the Company are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements. Pursuant to the requirements of
Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”),
further discussion and analysis of the principal activities of
the Group (including the business review of the Group and
the description of the potential business development of the
Group) are set out in the management discussion and analysis
of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Business Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s principal business activity is the manufacturing
and sales of faux leather chemicals and Chinese liquor,
whose principal risks include the quality of the products
and the security during production. The Group has taken
comprehensive measures to ensure that both quality and
security will meet the industry standards. The fluctuation of
the development of the industry has resulted in a significant
impact on the Group’s business in the Reporting Period. Please
refer to the Statement from the Board of Directors for further
discussion on the business risks we face and how we manage
such risks.

Financial Risks

The Group’s main risks arising from its financial instruments are
interest rate and exchange rate risks, equity price risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. Details of the financial risk management
objectives and policies are set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Tax concession

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding the
securities of the Company.
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Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and the development of the society.

Details of the Group’'s development, performance and
operation in the environmental aspect are set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has adopted internal control and risk management
policies to monitor the on-going compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations. As far as the Board is concerned,
the Group had complied in all material aspects with the
applicable laws and regulations in the PRC, and did not have
any incidents of material non-compliance, and the Group
had obtained all relevant permits, approval documents,
qualifications, authorizations and approvals material to our
business operations.

Overall compliance

As at the date of this annual report, save as disclosed above,
there are no material pending or threatened litigation matters
or other proceedings involving the Group, and the Group is
not involved in any litigation or other proceedings that we
believe would materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operation.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's top five customers accounted for approximately
34.5% (2022: approximately 32.9%) of the total sales and the
top five suppliers accounted for approximately 53.7% (2022:
approximately 51.92%) of its total purchases for Reporting
Period. In addition, the Group’s largest customer accounted
for approximately 7.74% (2022: approximately 6.85%) of
the total sales and the Group's largest supplier accounted for
approximately 42.4% (2022: approximately 39.9%) of the
total purchases for Reporting Period.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, at no time during
the Reporting Period, have the Directors, their associates or
any shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge
of the Directors own more than 5% of the share capital of
the Company) had any interest in these major customers and
suppliers.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group is in good relationship with its employees and
also has policies in place to ensure competitive remuneration,
well-developed welfare package and continuous professional
training for its employees. The Group also maintains a good
relationship with its customers and suppliers, without whom its
production and operation may be impaired.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the movements in the Company’s reserves during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had distributable
reserves amounting to RMB351,247,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB98,770,000).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donation for charitable purposes of approximately
RMB515,000 were made by the Group during the Reporting
Period (31 December 2022: RMB418,000).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the Reporting Period of the Group
are set out in the paragraph headed “Events Subsequent to
Reporting Period” in this annual report and note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial periods is set out on page 164
of this Annual Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Reporting Period.
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Pre-emptive right

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's articles of association (the “Articles of
Association”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated.

DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has resolved not to declare the final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023. Policy on payment of
dividend of the Company is in place setting out the factors in
determination of dividend payment of the Company, including
the Group’s actual and expected financial performance,
shareholders’ interests, retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Company and each of the other members
of the Group, the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio,
return on equity and financial covenants to which the Group
is subject, possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness,
any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders, the Group expected working capital
requirements and future expansion plans, liquidity position and
future commitments at the time of declaration of dividend,
taxation considerations, statutory and regulatory restrictions,
general business conditions and strategies, general economic
conditions, business cycle of the Group's business and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of the
Company; and other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
The policy shall be reviewed periodically and submitted to the
Board for approval if amendments are required.

Directors’ service contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the listing date of the Shares on 12 March
2020 (the “Listing Date”) or his/her respective date of
appointment which was later than the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other and is subject to
termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement
by rotation of the Directors as set out in the Articles of
Association.
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Remuneration of Directors and senior management

Each of our executive Directors is entitled to a director’s fee.
Each of our executive Directors shall be paid a remuneration
on the basis of twelve months in a year. In addition, each of
our executive Directors is also entitled to bonus as determined
by the Board based on the recommendations made by our
Remuneration Committee. The current annual director’s fees
and remuneration of our executive Directors are set out in note
13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered
into an appointment letter with our Company for an initial
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date or
for an initial term of one year if his/her respective date of
appointment was later than the Listing Date and is entitled to
a director’s fee of HK$120,000 per annum.

In the year ended 2023, each of the executive Directors did not
receive a director’s fee.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (AND THEIR
CONNECTED ENTITIES) IN MATERIAL
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding companies, or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) has
any interest in any business which competes, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group under the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which had been notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions in which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required
to be maintained pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, are set out as
follows:
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of Long/short in the
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares position Company
AR ERE
& g1/ EEtE BRo#HE ¥R/ %R ZBAESR
Mr. Chen Hua Interest in controlled corporation and 6,000,800 Long position 0.83%
interest of spouse Mot -2
RE LA Ry rEEER R EER 2 )
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Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2023, Sunlight Global Investment Limited
(“Sunlight Global”) and Lilian Global Investment Limited
(“Lilian Global”) held approximately 0.50% and approximately
0.33%, respectively, of the total issued share capital of the
Company. Sunlight Global is owned as to 61.20% by Mr. Chen
Hua, 13.24% by Ms. Zhu Jianqin, 13.24% by Mr. Li Xiangyu,
9.24% by Mr. He Zhangcai, 2.14% by Mr. Chen Yong, 0.54%
by Mr. Cai Jianming and 0.40% by Mr. Zhao Xuesheng. Lilian
Global is wholly-owned by Ms. Liu Jing. Ms. Liu is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Lilian Global is
interested under the SFO. Mr. Chen Hua, Ms. Liu Jing, Ms. Zhu
Jiangin, Mr. Li Xiangyu, Mr. He Zhangcai, Mr. Zhao Xuesheng,
Mr. Cai Jianming and Mr. Chen Yong are entitled to exercise
or control the exercise of approximately 0.83% of the voting
power at general meetings of our Company through exercising
or controlling the exercise of the entire voting power at general
meetings of Sunlight Global and Lilian Global, and therefore
they are deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Sunlight
Global and Lilian Global are interested under the SFO.

(2)  Mr. Chen Hua and Ms. Liu Jing are spouses to each other.
Therefore, each of them is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which he or she is interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be maintained
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

GEE

(1) #ZE2023%F12H31H ' Sunlight Global
Investment Limited ([ Sunlight Global |)
K Lilian Global Investment Limited
(lLilian Global ) ARl B AR FE
BITHIRAB0.50% 5% 0.33% ° Sunlight
GlobalHRE.RE -KREELZ T B MR
FRE-MEMEE RBELE -EKEH
EERBEREEDHNEFC1.20%
13.24%13.24%°9.24% 2.14% 0.54%
%.0.40% o Lilian Global g 25zt 2 &
oA REBEFSRBEGRM 2kt
W48 & T Lilian Globalif 5 # 25 M A% 17
HEHEED RELE JFLL KES
T+ BmTEE - MEM LA BEK
SE CREREERRELEBREERT
Sunlight Global ¥ Lilian Globalf¥ B K& +
TESERIITE R RERETARFRE
RE LTIz GI7T490.83% 1 2 -
Eit BIEZHFRAEEL BEHRR
#Sunlight Global % Lilian Global# & # 25
BRI AR S A o

2 BREXRLERIFLLR/EMG Bt RiE
EFMHEGRY RESARA S THEE
BRSO THEEER -

Br AT B AN FR2023F 128318
BMEEEI AR RSTHRABERAAF
S HAE EAE (TERBHFLBEKRIE
XVER) 5 - FHEER sk iEiEES AR
RIEREE S KA EKOIEXVEETRESD
HBMEARNE KRB G  HER
NMEREEENEZEAR (BREBEES
M EIRAIMNZEBRXFEEREESIR A
BENEZR KRR ) HBAECTRIRIEE T
KB IEHIE3526B T HEFRELEMA -
HIRBIZETRIBHE AR E M
EREESAR ©

FIBXRERARNE —Bo=FFH

31



32

Directors’ Report

EEERE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Reporting Period was the Company or its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors or their spouses or children under the age of 18 were
granted any right to subscribe for the share capital or debt
securities of the Company or any other body corporate, or had
exercised any such right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the knowledge of the Directors of the Company, as at
31 December 2023, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) have the
following interests and short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
notified to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were required pursuant to section 336

ESREROIEEZEF

BRI AFHAAREE S KRR EWNE
RAIN R E PABER] LEF LB R E
EZTHEBEARRREMEMEARRE
RirE#EMER BYBERRX RS
Z BCBZ18ER A T B F 2R T (E 42 F
PARRER AN 2 R) sl AT ] E At A A B8 Y AR
SEHE S REITREIAFERN -

FTERRREOREBERD P

B RXE

MARBEZESFTA H2023F12A318
THAL (BEFARRETESERINR
RARKIBROSABBEIRD T - EHIREE
HREEGHIEXVEE2 R EIDEBAME
ARABHERRAR B BEEFLERPE
&I EB3361K BR8N ZIKFT IR B 52 T A9
BEEAR KENEARRARRE BB

of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein. FrEREZS R A o
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
Number of Long/short in the
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares position Company
HARRRE
=L 5/ EEtE gy 4= BE/ %R ZBHEIR
Ms. Zheng Xiuyue Beneficial Owner 52,000,000 Long position 7.22%

B FE AL+ EnEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, to the
knowledge of the Directors, none of any other person (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had
any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to be
recorded in the register referred to in section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Purpose

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
the Eligible Participants (as defined below) had or may have
made to our Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the
Eligible Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake
in our Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives: (i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise
their performance efficiency for the benefit of our Group; (ii)
attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going business
relationship with the Eligible Participants whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the long term growth of our Group;
and (iii) for such purposes as our Board may approve from time
to time.

Who may join

Our Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to
subscribe for such number of new Shares as our Board may
determine at an exercise price determined in accordance with
paragraph headed “Subscription price” below to the following
(the "Eligible Participants”):

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any directors (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) of our Company or
any of its subsidiaries; and

(iii) any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, agents
and related entities to our Company or any of its
subsidiaries.
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Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and under
any other share option schemes of our Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
immediately following completion of the Global Offering,
being 20,000,000 Shares, excluding for this purpose Shares
which would have been issuable pursuant to the options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme (or any other share option schemes of our Company).
Subject to the issue of a circular by our Company and the
approval of our Shareholders in general meeting and/or such
other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from
time to time, our Board may:

(i)  renew this limit at any time to 10% of the Shares in issue
as of the date of the approval by our Shareholders in
general meeting; and/or

(i) grant options beyond the 10% limit to Eligible
Participants specifically identified by our Board. The
circular issued by our Company to our Shareholders shall
contain a generic description of the specified Eligible
Participants who may be granted such options, the
number and terms of the options to be granted, the
purpose of granting options to the specified Eligible
Participants with an explanation as to how the options
serve such purpose, the information required under
Rule 17.02(2)(d) and the disclaimer required under Rule
17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Company at any time shall
not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. No
options shall be granted under any schemes of our Company
(including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the
30% limit being exceeded. The maximum number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted shall be adjusted, in
such manner as the auditors of our Company or an approved
independent financial adviser shall certify to be appropriate,
fair and reasonable in the event of any alteration in the capital
structure of our Company in accordance with paragraph (q)
below whether by way of consolidation, capitalisation issue,
rights issue, sub-division or reduction of the share capital of
our Company but in no event shall exceed the limit prescribed
in this paragraph.
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Maximum number of options for each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Company (including both exercised and outstanding options)
to each Eligible Participant in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as of
the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess of this
1% limit shall be subject to:

(i)

the issue of a circular by our Company containing the
identity of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of
and terms of the options to be granted (and options
previously granted to such participant) the information
as required under Rules 17.03(4) and 17.06 of the Listing
Rules and/or such other requirements as prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time; and

the approval of our Shareholders in general meeting and/
or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules
from time to time with such Eligible Participant and his
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) (or his
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) if the Eligible
Participant is a Connected Person) abstaining from
voting. The numbers and terms (including the exercise
price) of options to be granted to such participant must
be fixed before our Shareholders’ approval and the date
of our Board meeting at which our Board proposes to
grant the options to such Eligible Participant shall be
taken as the date of grant for the purpose of calculating
the subscription price of the Shares. Our Board shall
forward to such Eligible Participant an offer document in
such form as our Board may from time to time determine.
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Grant of options to connected persons

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of our Company or any of their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is required to be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of
the options). If our Board proposes to grant options to a
substantial shareholder or any independent nonexecutive
Director or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) which will result in the number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of options granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% or such other
percentage as may be from time to time provided under
the Listing Rules of the Shares in issue;

(i) having an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million or
such other sum as may be from time to time provided
under the Listing Rules, based on the official closing price
of the Shares at the date of each grant, such further
grant of options will be subject to the issue of a circular
by our Company and the approval of our Shareholders
in general meeting on a poll at which the grantee, his/
her associates and all core connected persons (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of our Company shall abstain
from voting in favour, and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time. Any
vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such
options shall be taken as a poll.

The circular to be issued by our Company to our Shareholders
pursuant to the above paragraph shall contain the following
information:

(i)  the details of the number and terms (including the
exercise price) of the options to be granted to each
selected Eligible Participant which must be fixed before
our Shareholders’ meeting and the date of Board meeting
for proposing such further grant shall be taken as the
date of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise
price of such options;
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(i) a recommendation from the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is the grantee of the options) to the
independent shareholders as to voting;

(iii) the information required under Rule 17.02(2)(c) and (d)
and the disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the
Listing Rules; and

(iv) the information required under Rule 2.17 of the Listing
Rules.

Performance targets and vesting conditions

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance targets
as our Board may then specify in the grant before any options
granted under the Share Option Scheme can be exercised.

Subscription price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as our Board in its absolute discretion shall determine,
save that such price will not be less than the highest of:

(i)  the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of
grant, which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange
is open for the business of dealing in securities;

(i) the average of the official closing prices of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

(iii)  the nominal value of a Share.

Term of the Share Option Scheme

An option is personal to the grantee and may be exercised or
treated as exercised, as the case may be, in whole or in part.
No grantee shall in any way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage,
encumber or create any interest (legal or beneficial) in favour
of any third party over or in relation to any option or attempt
so to do (save that the grantee may nominate a nominee in
whose name the Shares issued pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme may be registered). Any breach of the foregoing shall
entitle our Company to cancel any outstanding options or any
part thereof granted to such grantee.
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Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00
to our Company by way of consideration for the grant. Any
offer to grant an option to subscribe for Shares may be
accepted in respect of less than the number of Shares for
which it is offered provided that it is accepted in respect of
a board lot of dealing in Shares on the Stock Exchange or an
integral multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in
the duplicate offer document constituting the acceptance of
the option. To the extent that the offer to grant an option is
not accepted by any prescribed acceptance date, it shall be
deemed to have been irrevocably declined.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon
which the Option is deemed to be granted and accepted and
prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be determined
by our Board in its absolute discretion, save that no option may
be exercised more than 10 years after it has been granted. No
option may be granted more than 10 years after the Listing
Date. Subject to earlier termination by our Company in general
meeting or by our Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the Listing
Date.

No share option has been granted by our Company and no
share options were outstanding, lapsed, cancelled or exercised
under the share option scheme during the Reporting Period.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions disclosed in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements constitute connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The transaction is fully exempt if all the percentage
ratios (other than the profits ratio) are less than 5% and the
total consideration is less than HK$3,000,000. The Company
has confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for these
transactions.

During the year, the Company entered into to one connected
transaction. The details were set out in the section headed
"EVENT SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING PERIOD".
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present values.

Annual contributions to retirement benefit schemes operated
by the government in the PRC are recognised in the profit or
loss as and when incurred.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high level of
corporate governance practices. Information about the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of
any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations
that had a significant impact on it.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float as required by
the Listing Rules and at least 25% of the Company’s entire
issued share capital were held by the public from the Listing
Date and up to the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against the Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in
force for the benefit of the Directors (including any director(s)
resigned during the Reporting Period) as required by section
470 of the Companies Ordinance when the Directors’ Report
prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with
section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Company has not entered into any contract with any
individual, firm or body corporate to manage or administer the
whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company
during the year under review.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management
of the Company these annual results and the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
auditing, risk management, internal control and financial
statements matters, including the review of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

AUDITOR

Following the resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited (“HLB") with effect from 15 December 2022 after
taking into account as the Company and HLB could not reach
a consensus on the fees for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the financial year ending
31 December 2022, KTC Partners CPA Limited (“KTC") has
been appointed as the auditor of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and for the current year ended
31 December 2023. KTC has audited the accompanying
financial statements which were prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

KTC holds office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company. KTC is subject to retirement
and, being eligible, offers itself for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for re-appointment of KTC
Partners CPA Limited as auditor will be proposed at the AGM.

By Order of the Board
Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) contained
in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own
corporate governance code. The Company is committed to
the establishment of good corporate governance practices
and procedures with a view to becoming a transparent and
responsible organisation which is open and accountable to the
Shareholders. The Board strives for adhering to the principles
of corporate governance and has adopted sound corporate
governance practices to meet the legal and commercial
standards, focusing on areas such as internal control, fair
disclosure and accountability to all Shareholders to ensure the
transparency and accountability of all operations of the Group.
The Company believes that effective corporate governance
is essential for creating greater value to its Shareholders. The
Board will continue to review and improve the corporate
governance practices of the Group from time to time to ensure
that the Group is led by an effective Board in order to optimise
return for Shareholders.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
the Group has strictly complied with the CG Code with the
exception of the following deviations:

1. Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that
the roles of the chairman and chief executive should be
separate. Code Provisions C.2.2 to C.2.9 further stipulate
the various roles and responsibilities of the chairman.
The Company’s chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”)
Ms. Liu Jing resigned with effect from 25 May 2022. No
replacement appointment of the Chairman was made
after Ms. Liu Jing’s resignation and the Company has not
had a Chairman since 25 May 2022. The Company will
publish an announcement once an appointment has been
made in accordance with the Listing Rules.

2. Code Provision C.6.3 of the CG Code stipulates that the
company secretary should report to the board chairman
and/or the chief executive. As the Company did not have
a Chairman or chief executive following the resignation
of Ms. Liu Jing, the joint company secretaries or company
secretary of the Company have reported to the executive
Directors since 25 May 2022.
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TEERWMSE

3. Code Provision F2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
chairman should attend the annual general meeting and
should also invite the chairmen of the audit, remuneration,
nomination and any other committees (as appropriate)
to attend. In their absence, the chairman should invite
another member of the committee or failing this their
duly appointed delegate, to attend. These persons should
be available to answer questions at the annual general
meeting. Since the company does not have a Chairman,
Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel, an executive Director, took
the chair of the annual general meeting held on 29 May
2023. Mr. Ho Ho Tung Armen, who was the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company, and Mr. Lee Cheung
Yuet Hoarce, who was the chairman of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company, attended the meeting and were available to
answer any questions and ensure effective communication
with the Shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code contained
in Appendix C3 as the required standard for securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has made specific
enquiries of all Directors and all Directors confirmed that
during the year ended 31 December 2023, they had complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code and
the code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions
during the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the
Group, which includes establish the purpose, values and
strategy of the Company, establish leadership and control of
the Company and oversee the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions, internal control, risk management and performances.
The directors take decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company. Some functions including, inter alia, monitor and
approval of material transactions, matters involving conflict
of interest for a substantial shareholder or director(s) of the
Company, the approval of the interim and annual results, other
disclosures to the public or regulators and the internal control
system are reserved by the Board and the decisions relating
to such matters shall be subject to the decision of the Board.
Matters not specifically reserved to the Board and necessary
for the daily operations of the Company are delegated to the
management under the supervision of the respective Directors.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of eight
Directors, being four executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors. The Directors as at the date of this
annual report and the Directors who have served the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out as below.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Hua

Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel

Mr. Tse Chun Chung

Mr. Sun Jingang

Mr. Gu Jianguo (Resigned on 3 March 2023)
Ms. Zhu Jiangin (Resigned on 3 March 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Au Hei Ching

Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace

Ms. Zhou Xiaochun

Mr. Huang Zhenming (Appointed on 24 January 2024)
Mr. Ho Ho Tung Armen (Resigned on 1 October 2023)
Mr. Zheng Yu (Resigned on 24 January 2024)

The biographies of the Directors and their relationship, if any,
are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report. The Company
reviews the composition of the Board from time to time, to
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills and experience
appropriate to the Company’s business, and the Board has
a strong independent element to safeguard the interests of
Shareholders.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
the Directors as set out in the Articles of Association.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
one-third of the Directors (including executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) shall retire from office
by rotation. Pursuant to Code Provision B.2.2 of the Corporate
Governance Code, all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

As the 2022 annual general meeting of the Company was
convened on 29 May 2023 and the Directors were re-elected in
the meeting, the re-election of Directors for the year 2023 will
be proceeded in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company or its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Group are clearly defined and segregated to ensure
independence and proper checks and balances. The chairman
focuses on the business strategy and direction of the Company
and has executive responsibilities, provides leadership for
the Board and ensures proper and effective functioning of
the Board in discharging of its responsibilities. The chief
executive officer is accountable to the Board for the overall
implementation of the Company’s strategies and the co-
ordination of overall business operations.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Ms. Liu Jing served as the
chairman of the Board since the Listing Date and up to the
25 May 2022. No replacement appointment of the Chairman
was made after Ms. Liu Jing’s resignation and the Company
has not had a Chairman since 25 May 2022. The position of
chief executive officer of the Company has remained vacant
since the Listing Date. As all major decisions are made in
consultation with the members of the Board, and there are
four Independent Non-executive Directors on the Board
offering independent perspectives, the Board is therefore of
the view that there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure
sufficient balance of powers within the Board.

TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Upon appointing a new Director, each new Director receives
an induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that
he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.
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The Company also provides regular updates on the business
development of the Group. The Directors are regularly briefed
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance
and maintenance of good corporate governance practices. In
addition, the Company has been encouraging the Directors to
enroll in professional development courses and seminars relating
to the Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and corporate
governance practices organized by professional bodies or
chambers in Hong Kong. All Directors have confirmed that they
had complied with Code Provision C.1.4 during the Year by
attending seminars and briefings and reading relevant materials.

During the Reporting Period, all the Directors have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development and
refreshed their knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Such
professional development was completed by way of attending
briefings, conferences, courses, forums, seminars and lectures
which are relevant to the business or Directors’ duties, as well
as reading relevant information and participating in business-
related research.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board held 7
meetings.

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
means of electronic communication in accordance with the
Articles of Association. The company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman to prepare
the agenda of the meeting and each Director may request to
include any matters in the agenda. Generally, notice would
be given for a regular meeting of the Company at least 14
days in advance. The Directors will receive details of agenda
items for decision at least 3 days before each Board meeting.
The Company Secretary is responsible for distributing detailed
documents to each of the Directors prior to the meetings of the
Board to ensure that the Directors may receive accurate, timely
and clear information to make informed decisions regarding
the matters to be discussed in the meetings. All Directors may
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
who regularly updates the Board on governance and regulatory
matters. All Directors will also be provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties, and upon reasonable
request, the Directors will be able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense. The Company Secretary is also responsible
for ensuring the procedures of Board meetings are observed and
providing the Board with opinions on matters in relation to the
compliance with the procedures of Board meetings. All minutes
of Board meetings will be recorded in sufficient details, including
the matters considered by the Board and the decisions reached.
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The individual attendance records of each Director at the SEENHREHALEFARNTSEENE
various meetings of the Company during the Reporting Period A EC R E A N
are set out below:

Annual Extraordinary

general general Audit Remuneration Nomination
meeting meeting Board  Committee  Committee ~ Committee
Name of Director - £3:8 RREFAE RRBHAE E2xg ENZEE HHZRE REZRE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chen Hua Rtk 1 17 577 - 11 -
Mr. Lam Kam Kong ML E - 0 n - - 11
Mr. Sun Jingang Felxs - 1 41 - - -
Mr. Tse Chun Chung HEPEE - 0N m - - -
Mr. Gu Jianguo®" BREEALEY - - - - - -
Ms. Zhu Jiangin®" REELLY - - - - - -
Independent Non-Executive Directors BU#H{TEE
Mr. Au Hei Ching BEELE n 0N 6/7 33 - -
Mr. Ho Ho Tung Armen?? AR ER n n 5/5 33 - N
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace FHENEL - 0N 6/7 33 N N
Mr. Zheng Yu#® grgae 111 20 Nl 33 - -
Ms. Zhou Xiaochun™ AkERL" 1N 212 6/7 33 1N -
Mr. Huang Zhenming™! ERAE L _ _ _ _ _ _
M (appointed on 24 January 2024) A (FA2024%1 B24HEZE )
i (resigned on 3 March 2023) # (3202343830 BT)
#2 (resigned on 1 October 2023) #2 (FA2023F10 A1 H B 1E)
#3 (resigned on 24 January 2024) #3 (FA2024%41 B24H B 1F)
BOARD COMMITTEES EEEeLEE

We have established the Audit Committee, Remuneration K2 R2020E2810B Y B%EE
Committee and Nomination committee on 10 February 2020. e FMEEeNIELETES - FI=@EZ
Each of the above three committees has written terms of EeRE TR EZEBESE-
reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The functions Fai=AES @B T :

of the above three committees are summarised as follows:

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

We established the Audit Committee. During the Reporting
Period, the Audit Committee consists of Mr. Ho Ho Tung
Armen, Mr. Au Hei Ching, Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace, Mr.
Zheng Yu, Ms. Zhou Xiaochun and Mr. Huang Zhenming and is
chaired by Mr. Ho Ho Tung Armen, who have the appropriate
professional qualifications required under the Listing Rules. Mr.
Ho Ho Tung has ceased to be a member and Chairman of the
Audit Committee on 1 October 2023 and Mr. Zheng Yu has
ceased to be member of the Audit Committee on 24 January
2024. Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace has been appointed as
the Chairman of Audit Committee since 1 October 2023 and
Mr. Huang Zhenming has been appointed as the member of
Audit Committee since 24 January 2024. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to assist our Board by providing
an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management
system of our Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop
and review our policies and to perform other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by our Board.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report, the Audit Committee has performed its duties,
reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system and
risk management of the Company, the Group Anti-Bribery and
Anti-Corruption Policy and the Group Whistleblowing Policy,
reviewed the terms of engagement of the external auditors
and the Group’s continuing connected transactions. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed with the management of the
Company the interim results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2023 and also with the external auditor the
annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 and 2023, and was of the opinion that the preparation
of such results was in compliance with the relevant accounting
standards, rules and regulations and that adequate disclosures
have been made.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

We established the Remuneration Committee. During the
Reporting Period, The Remuneration Committee consists of
Mr. Chen Hua, Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace and Ms. Zhou
Xiaochun and is chaired by Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to our Board regarding our policy
and structure for the remuneration of all of our Directors and
senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
has discussed and reviewed the remuneration policies of
the Company, reviewed and made recommendations with
respect to the remuneration of Board members for approval
by the Board and made recommendations with respect to
the remuneration of the newly appointed Director during the
Reporting Period for approval by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee had formulated the remuneration policy for
Directors, approved the terms of service contracts of Directors
and devised the principle for the remuneration of executive
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group
is determined on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence. The emoluments of the Directors are
recommended by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance,
experience, responsibility, workload and time devoted to
the Company and comparable market statistics, for Board
approval. Each of the executive Directors is entitled to a basic
salary which is reviewed annually. In addition, each of the
executive Directors may receive a discretionary bonus as the
Remuneration Committee may recommend. Such amount has
to be approved by the Board.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the
Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

We established the Nomination Committee. During the
Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee consists of
Mr. Ho Ho Tung Armen, Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace, Mr.
Gu Jianguo, Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel and Mr. Au Hei
Ching. Mr. Gu lJianguo was the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee at the beginning of the Reporting Period and
ceased to be chairman and a member of the Nomination
Committee on 3 March 2023. Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel
has been appointed as the Chairman and a member of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 3 March 2023. Mr.
Lam has later ceased to be the Chairman of Nomination
Committee on 21 April 2023 and remained as a member of
the Nomination Committee. Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet has been
appointed as the Chairman of Nomination Committee with
effect from 21 April 2023. Mr. Ho Ho Tung has ceased to be
a member of the Nomination Committee on 1 October 2023
and Mr. Au Hei Chung has been appointed as a member of
the Nomination Committee with effect from 1 October 2023.
The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of our Board and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to our Board to
complement our Company's corporate strategy, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
making recommendations to our Board on the appointment
of members of our Board and succession planning of our
Directors, and assessing the independence of our independent
non-executive Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee had
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, the
implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy
and conducted a full review on the professional qualifications
and career background of all candidates to directorships
and members of each Board committee as well as the
independence of the independent Directors.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to
provide independent and objective opinions to the Board,
giving adequate control and balances for the Company
to protect the overall interests of the Shareholders and
the Company. They serve actively on the Board and Board
committees to provide their independent and objective views.
In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, as at the date of the annual report, the Company
has appointed four independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board. One of the
independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting or related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules. Each independent non-executive Director has
submitted annual confirmation of his/her independence to the
Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on
the contents of such confirmations, the Company considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for selecting
and recommending candidates for directorships. The Board is
ultimately responsible for selection and appointment of new
Directors.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidates, including candidate nominated by
Shareholder(s), for directorships to the Board by giving due
consideration to a wide range of criteria, having due regard
to the benefits of diversity on the Board, including but not
limited to gender, age, experience, cultural and educational
background, expertise, skills and know-how, sufficient time
to effectively carry out their duties, qualifications including
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries the
Company’s business is involved in, independence, reputation
for integrity, relevant requirements under the Listing Rules,
potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to
the Board and other factors as it may deem are in the best
interests of the Company and the Shareholders.
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Nomination Procedure and Process

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for
the appointment of a director with reference to the selection
criteria as mentioned above. The Nomination Committee
may consult any source it deems appropriate in identifying or
selecting suitable candidates, such as recommendations from
existing directors, professional agency firms and proposals
from shareholders of the Company. The nomination will adopt
any process it deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of
the candidates, such as review of resume, personal interviews,
background checks and third-party reference checks.

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will convene a meeting to discuss and
consider the recommendation of the candidate to the Board
for appointment and the proposed remuneration package.
The Board will have the final authority on determining the
appointment of the Candidate.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

We have adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of our Board that are relevant to our
business growth.

Pursuant to our board diversity policy, selection of our Board
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors
that our Board may consider relevant and applicable from
time to time. High emphasis is placed on ensuring a balanced
composition of skills and experience at our Board level in order
to provide a range of perspectives, insights and challenge that
enable our Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities
effectively, support good decision making in view of the core
businesses and strategy of our Group, and support succession
planning and development of our Board. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to our Board.

TEERBRE

REEFRRRE
REZEGRHSELMBRESENESS
HBEREEEZ -VEeIWESEREAR
RAZESAUAAELRSABEHEM AR
KR PIIREEE EERIBRFNHRE
A R A B BUR B o ORT (A R
AHNBBEUER REZESARMNERR
BEMEMREF WEBEE  BAGHHK -
ERHENE=EEEZ-

REBECEIEZFNREAR REZ
EelaRa® WmhkEBEXIREAR
EEeRINREHBERUNERNG
MEE EZEREEETCREAZMEN
RASKEIR

EEEZTLBE

BPEHRAEFTS L TEERR  ZBRRE
TERPEFREEMXBERERENAR
AEFEZLCARNEE FENT -

REBEEFEZTEBE EFSHREAD
EERENBTEZTICAR BRETR
KRR Fik XERHBEER BER &
X&BR e MBMBRBER URES
SHETHR AR ERNTHNEMRE
Z- MR EEREREFSEBENE

RBNOEES KMRESEAMET
BEMEHR—RIIEH  RENIE 5
RIBEA S B 20 X5 LRI R FOR
R UXHEFTENBRIRBIINER - KR
REBENBEBREABREETSHRD
BERAEREL -

FIBXRERARNE —Bo=FFH

57



52

Corporate Governance Report
TEERWMSE

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
implementation of our board diversity policy. The proportion
of female Board representation is a measurable objective of
the Company in assessing the implementation of the diversity
policy. As at the date of this Report, the Board currently has
one female Director out of eight Directors, achieving the
gender diversity of the Board at 12.5%. The Board targets to
maintain at least the current level of female representation,
with the ultimate goal of increasing the proportion of
female members over time as and when suitable candidates
are identified. The eight Directors are from diverse and
complementary backgrounds, including business and operation
management, legal, accounting, financial management and
alcohol-related management. The valuable experiences and
expertise they bring to our business are critical for the long-
term growth of the Group. Gender diversity at workforce
levels (including our senior management) is disclosed in the
Company’s “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.
Our Nomination Committee reviews our Board’s composition
at least once annually taking into account the benefits
of all relevant diversity aspects, and adhere to our board
diversity policy when making recommendation on any Board
appointments. Our Nomination Committee also ensures that
diversity of our Board is considered as part of the evaluation of
our Board’s effectiveness.

COMPANY SECRETARY

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Wong is the company
secretary of the Company. Mr. Wong Ka Sing has been
appointed to be the Company Secretary of the Company
with effect from 1 March 2024 whose biography is set out
in the section headed “Biography of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. Mr. Chan Ming Kei and
Mr. Lui Chi Ho were joint company secretaries of the Company.
Mr. Lui Chi Ho and Mr. Chan Ming Kei has later ceased to be
a company secretary of the Company on 21 April 2023 and 1
March 2024 respectively.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

We have adopted or expect to adopt a set of risk management
measures and internal control policies to identify, evaluate and
manage risks arising from our operations. Our internal control
system is summarised as follows:

- The Company does not have an internal audit function.
We have formed an Audit Committee comprising four
independent non-executive Directors as part of our
measures to assist the Board to improve corporate
governance. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to provide our Directors with an independent review
of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process,
internal control, risk management system and ESG
performance and reporting of our Group, to oversee
the audit process, and to perform other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by our Directors;

—  We have adopted and implemented comprehensive
control policies in respect of various aspects of our
business operations such as (i) risk management policies;
(ii) conflict of interest guidelines; and (iii) disclosure
guidelines;

—  We have established system and manuals in relation to,
among others, distribution of annual or interim reports
and publication, handling and monitoring of inside
information prior to public announcement and other
requirements under the Listing Rules;

—  Our Directors have attended training sessions conducted
by our legal advisers as to Hong Kong laws on the on-
going obligations and duties of a director of a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange;

- We have complied with the Corporate Governance
Code. To avoid potential conflicts of interest, we have
implemented corporate governance measures as set
out in the paragraph headed “Relationship with Our
Controlling Shareholders — Corporate governance
measures” in the Prospectus, if applicable. Our Directors
reviewed our corporate governance measures and our
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code each
financial year and complied with the “comply or explain”
principle in our corporate governance reports to be
included in our annual reports after Listing;

- We have engaged Ince & Co, our legal adviser as to Hong
Kong laws, to advise and assist our Board on compliance
matters in relation to the Listing Rules and/or other
relevant laws and regulations applicable to our Company;
and

TEERBRE

| B B FE 2 P R 42

B E RO RN —E RS R
RAEBES B - LR - ST REE R
B 45 4 2 A 1 BB o B TP A0 PO BB EE 2 4
EHER T -

—  ARB)IWER T A DI BAE o T A
BRI P 2B I TTE FAMKA
BREZBE FRUMHBHEZTSN
WELFRERERN—MD -FZZ
EENIZBRAERRNESTRHEEHELN
SEVHRERF NEMEE- AR
EERFUNMRE e REARE
AR BEGRERNB LR NEE
BERREFMETESRIRNE MBI
KA

- ZMERXBEENSTEHRAR
B2 mE S EUR - M3)E R E E K
s (A & R 45 5l s K (i) FR 18
EIE

—  FMEBR QSR LRE ETHEA
MEAMRE ERZARM (AT )
FRESF BHmE DR R ARHE B
A B IR R BRSO BIE K T

- EBERCD2NRMNEBEREAEFMR
MIFIIRE ARERE AR (Al
KRBT M) EENRHERS LB

=

- HMEETEEERTA - RERE
EMamrR HPMEERBRER
[ ROBAER - EEREE]
—EBRPrER R EE IR (WER) °
SOV REERIEMOEE
Brataie gt RERTRIB
W 2T RN ETREAFRNEE
ERmEN [ TETRAERE] RA:

- BMEZBRLIAEMTAREMNE
AR REZEM X Em AR R
R/ SEAMERR AR B EEE
BRERNAREERNEETGRMH
BERRBE &

FIBXRERARNE —Bo=FFH

53



54

Corporate Governance Report
TERERHS

—  When considered necessary and appropriate, we will

seek professional advice and assistance from independent
internal control consultants, external legal advisers and/or
other appropriate independent professional advisers with
respect to matters relating to our internal controls and
legal compliance.

During the Reporting Period, we engaged an independent
internal control consultant (the “Internal Control
Consultant”) to perform a review over certain key areas
of our internal control system. The Internal Control
Consultant provided recommendations for our management’s
consideration to enhance our internal controls and procedures.

We are satisfied that the our risk management and internal
control systems including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions as appropriate to
the Group have been put in place and considers the risk
management and internal control systems effective and
adequate.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Group’s financial statements for each financial period to give
a true and fair view of the financial position, results and cash
flows of the Group for the period. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board
has selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimates that are prudent,
fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a
going concern basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all
reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy the financial position of the Group and which enable
the preparation of financial statements in accordance with the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards as promulgated by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future and that, for
this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the financial statements.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the Company appointed KTC,
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards to provide audit services to the Company. The
remuneration relating to the annual audit services was
HK$900,000.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders have the right to initiate and convene
general meetings

In accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association
of the Company, the shareholders shall be entitled to the
following rights: Extraordinary general meetings shall also
be convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Board or the secretary for the purpose
of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders are welcome to put forward proposals relating
to the operations, strategy and/or management of the Group
at a general meeting. Proposals shall be sent to the Board or
the Company Secretary by written requisition to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Suites 4404-10, 44/F, One Island East, 18 Westlands
Road, Taikoo Place, Hong Kong.

Shareholders are entitled to the enquiry right

Shareholders are entitled to make enquiries to the Board
by directly mailing to the Company at its principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Suites 4404-10, 44/F, One
Island East, 18 Westlands Road, Taikoo Place, Hong Kong.
The Company will deal with all enquiries in a timely and
appropriate manner.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company believes that effective communication
with shareholders is essential to the enhancement of the
relationship with investors and enhancement of investors’
understanding of the Company’s business and strategies.
The Company highly values shareholders’ opinions and
suggestions, and actively organises and conducts various
activities related to the relationship with investors in order to
maintain the communication with shareholders, and to timely
satisfy the reasonable demands of all shareholders.

To enhance effective communication, the Company maintains
its website at http://www.dwhl1950.com where latest
information on the Company’s business development, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access.

The AGM will be held on 31 May 2024. The notice of the AGM
will be sent to the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days
before the AGM.

RELATIONSHIP WITH INVESTORS

The Company believes that good relationship with investors
will help build a more stable shareholder base. As a result,
since the Listing, the Company has been and will be dedicated
to maintaining a higher degree of transparency, complying
with the Listing Rules and timely providing investors with
comprehensive and accurate information, and continuously
performing its obligation of information disclosure as a listed
company. The Company will strengthen its communication
with investors and let investors understand corporate strategies
and business operation by organising road shows, participating
in investors summit, voluntary information disclosure and
others.

The Board considers our current practices were all well-
implemented throughout the Year and achieved satisfactory
results.

The Company will continue to maintain a policy for open and
effective communication with investors for the purposes of
timely providing investors with the latest information on the
Company’s business while in compliance with the relevant
regulatory provisions.
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ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Articles of Association was conditionally adopted on
10 February 2020 with effect from the Listing Date. The
Listing Rules have been amended with effect from 1 January
2022 which requires, among others, listed issuers to adopt a
uniform set of 14 core standards for shareholder protection.
The Company amended and restated the memorandum of
association and articles of association of the Company by
adopting a second amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association of the Company. For details, please
refer to the second amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association published on the website of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the
Company (www.dwhl1950.com).

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company actively fulfills its social responsibilities by
protecting the environment, making good use of and
cherishing resources, adopting more environmentally-friendly
designs and technologies and improving the environmental
awareness of its employees, partners and customers, so as
to minimize the impacts of the business of the Company
on the environment. For details, please refer to the 2023
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company, which will be published on the website of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the
Company (www.dwhl1950.com).
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B &% B AR S

j KTC Partners CPA Limited

I Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

| MEEHMEBXMER LT

To the shareholders of
DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Diwang Industrial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 65 to 163, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Boards (the “IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

Independent Auditor’s Report
B &% B AR S

FAREXSH
BREXEEERERAMNOTEHE
RUABREEHBRENBLARE
ZHER-ZSFTRERMNYEEHBH
RETERBZRAUERT REESD
RFAL TR UL BIMRHB R, -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter
HRELREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNESFNAEEBRETSE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

8 5 B W R IR R E R

Refer to notes 5(ii)(b) and 21 to the consolidated financial statements

F2REE P RRM S (b) R 21

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had gross trade
receivables of approximately RMB232,613,000 and
recognised provision for impairment of approximately
RMB9,270,000.

M2023%12A31H EXEAEZRERUWIBRAR
M NR 232,613,000 R ERRERBEOARE
9,270,0007T °

Management performed periodic assessment on
the recoverability of the trade receivables and the
sufficiency of provision for impairment based on
information including credit profile of different
customers, ageing of the trade receivables,
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount of realisation
of outstanding balances, and on-going trading
relationships with the relevant customers.
Management also considered forward-looking
information that may impact the customers’ ability to
repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate
the expected credit losses for the impairment
assessment.

ERBELEAREN (BREIARAEFHERBL B
EWHRIBERNRER BEAECE BREAEBL &
WARKBRENTERREALERE  UREEERE P
FEE SR  HEHRWHIARN AT EE RORE
BENAREETERT L - EBENERAETE
BREERKEIZRRE DHORTIEEER  AEEHE
B ER L EREEEE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment on trade receivables included:
BPEREREEHE HREENRERI HOREF
B

o Understanding the credit control procedures
performed by management, including its
procedures on periodic review of trade
receivables and expected credit losses assessment
on trade receivables;

s HEHMEREBENTZEELRZRER BEHETHE
BEZRERIBLRTEESRKFEZBEE
EBREF:

o Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile
of the trade receivables as at year end to the
underlying financial records and post year-end
settlements to bank receipts;

o  HRMEMMBTHEMEBRENFRE HRKFIE
B RR R 1B 00 I F Rig 8 B 1B 0 B ERTT IR
=k
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FAREXSE(4)

Key audit matter (continued) How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BREKEE(E) EMNESFNAEEBREITSER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables (continued)

B 5 EWRORRERN G (&)

Refer to notes 5(ii)(b) and 21 to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

F2REE B HRRMEES>)(b)R21(4&)

We focused on this area due to the impairment e
assessment of trade receivables under the expected
credit losses model involved the use of significant
management judgements and estimates.

AT INZEE RAREHEEFEERE THE
ZRWFIRREN T REREIREEANHEG X
fli5te

Inquiring of management for the status of each
of the material trade receivables past due as at
year end and corroborating explanations from
management with supporting evidence, such as
understanding on-going business relationship
with the customers based on trade records,
checking historical and subsequent settlement
records of and other correspondence with the
customers; and
MERESHEANFREAHNEREHEK
RIEORRN WA FHBBEEETEENEE
MRBEEFRHTRETFPNFEXBRE &
BEFPHES REREECEREMBEE:

Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit losses provisioning methodology,
examining the key data inputs on a sample basis
to assess their accuracy and completeness, and
challenging the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking information, used
to determine the expected credit Iosses
AATEHEEEEREEAZNER L mERE
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%kéﬂ-u%%ﬁ ﬁ&& Bt

RETEHAEEEEMEANBR (BEE
E&ﬁ%&ﬁﬂ)

We found the key assumptions used in impairment
assessment of trade receivables were supported by the
available evidence.
BMRREZERKFERENEAANBERERERDE
EAK
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon (“Other
Information™).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance is responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

BB RE

Hitt & #

EFEHHEMENER EMENERFR
TEENER ETREREMBERERK
BB RS (THEMER]) -

BPEEEMBERRNERNREREME
o BRI A E 1 B R TR XA RE

+ =A
K55 o

REAHEREMBRERNEFZM S HAM
METRMEEMER ARKEEEEM
ERRTGEGFEMBRRIBMAERZE
BRESHNTHREEEA TN BB LE
BERE - WMEZNREPIETHIE  HAR
RREMERFEEARERL  RITRAM
BREZFE - WML B EE (AR
AR

EERAEERAREYHERRMN
B

EXRERBEKR S ERIEESHEMD
BIER B 75 3R 5 R R R & 78 A IR BB 3 3R
RERBRAVBHRE  ASHRAVBHRE
FHEEMAFHRER  MEBEERRY
ZOAMES MEREMBRERIFE
BHRRFFERMERMERRE R -

ERmEGEMHHRAE EFARNME &
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

BRBMEBERGEMBHRROEE

HANERERGEMBRREEES T
FREEANKRERM (T ERFRERE
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PR E R K BRI - K B BRIt 7 5 E
MEFREERMEL  WMERNKBERESIER
HA T ERPERZERAMEMRIE
HEVEERE  RIBE K-

E 42 08 1 BOR R AT B ) — 20
5+ 7 P94E 2 (E 2 1% M {2 1) 30 52 HBA 3
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yiu Wah Joseph
Practising Certificate Number: P04686

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEeERREMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mo AR¥T R AREF T
Revenue A 7 570,572 501,437
Cost of sales fHE A (337,189) (307,739)
Gross profit EF 233,383 193,698
Other income E Uz A 8 3,418 1,392
Other gains and losses, net Hub Uz M B 18 5 %8 9 67 (703)
Impairment losses under expected FEHREEEEEXTZ
credit loss model, net of reversal VBB JETE - B[O (4,061) (2,239)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of financial HEZAFEFAED
assets at fair value though profit (M AFEFAEZR]Z
or loss (“FVTPL") cRMEEZWE(EBE) 4,032 (10,416)
Loss on fair value change EAFEFAEBRRN
of financial assets at FVTPL ERMEEANFEESE
B 18 (2,181) (10,585)
Selling and distribution expenses HERSHEAX (163,147) (77,100)
Administrative and general expenses 1T & —#% 5 % (35,104) (30,900)
Share of result of an associate DlEBE R FEE 19 (82) (77)
Finance costs B 765 B¢ AN 10 (688) (403)
Profit before tax RR B Al % F 11 35,637 62,667
Income tax expenses Frisfifm > 12 (10,763) (23,049)
Profit for the year AABREREABEFARER 24,874 39,618
Profit for the year LT G RaF
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEE Z N 19,451 21,851
Non-controlling interests FEIE IS B 25 5,423 17,767
24,874 39,618
(Restated)
(= &E5)
Earnings per share (RMB cents) BREN (AR¥ED)
Basic HAR 16 4.11 9.14
Diluted s 16 N/ATRiE A N/AT 3 A
FIBERRERAT —ZT-=FF%H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GERERAEMEZE WS X

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #£2023F12H31H IFF/ZF

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
53 AR¥TR AREFTT
Profit for the year F R 24,874 39,618
Other comprehensive Hith2mE (EHE) kA
(loss)/income
Item that may be reclassified HERREEF D EERDZ
subsequently to profit or loss: EH
Exchange difference on translating ¥ E/BINERS 2 [E 5 =58
foreign operation (251) 2,763
Other comprehensive FREME2E (BE) WA
(loss)/income for the year (251) 2,763
Total comprehensive income FRAE2EKRALE
for the year 24,623 42,381
Total comprehensive income UTEEFEFAZEBALLE:
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company AN/NECIE ¥ =N 19,200 24,614
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 5,423 17,767
24,623 42,381

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

2023 Annual Report




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE B RIR R R

As at 31 December 2023 72023%F12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mo AR®T T AREF T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WM B MERE 17 113,851 108,507
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 18 25,676 26,282
Interest in an associate RN—EBE QB 2R 19 5,505 2,887
Prepayments T FRIB 22 42,305 -
Deferred tax assets R IEE E 30 1,617 781
188,954 138,457
Current assets REBEE
Inventories TE 20 108,312 98,242
Trade and bills receivables B 5 M W RIE & R R E 21 242,037 144,766
Prepayments, deposits and other TARFRIE  1Re R E A EIRIA
receivables 22 135,514 6,610
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABENEREE 23 9,522 7,763
Pledged bank deposits EEFRITER 24 4,300 2,428
Bank balances and cash RITEEHNIRE 24 48,952 48,112
548,637 307,921
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and bills payables Z SR RBEREMNEE 25 51,538 68,656
Other payables and accruals Hh & FRIB R EEHE A 26 15,307 8,493
Deferred income I JE U A 27 487 137
Amounts due to related companies & B8i&E N 7] FIE 28 1,453 447
Tax payables FETHLIE 1,797 7,852
Bank borrowings RITEE 29 25,000 10,000
95,582 95,585
Net current assets REBEEFE 453,055 212,336
Total assets less current liabilities #2EERRBEE 642,009 350,793
Non-current liability FRBEE
Deferred income 5 E WA 27 3,423 410
Net assets EEFE 638,586 350,383
TIBEERERAT —T=FFRH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE B RIR R R

As at 31 December 2023 20234F12H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B sE AR¥T R ARETT
Capital and reserves EXR#E

Share capital B& A 32 12,705 4,962
Reserves HE 601,216 326,179

Total equity attributable to owners ~ ARNARI#EA A JEIHE S
of the Company R 613,921 331,141
Non-controlling interest JEFE IS RE S 24,665 19,242
Total equity MR 638,586 350,383

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
28 March 2024.

Chen Hua
R

Director

EE

The accompany notes from an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

nf\é*&é%@%

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRAREARL
Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Statutory  Exchange  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total interests equity
e RGEE  EREE  iREE  ENRE  REEA 8% FERES fEs
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETL  ARETR  ARETn ARETr ARETr ARETT ARETT  ARETD
(note (b)  (note (a))
(M) ()
At January 2022 RREIAIR 415 166720 62,659 13,437 (5013 2764 269579 - 269579
Profit for the year FREH - - - - - 21,851 21,851 17,767 39,618
Other comprehensive income for the year  EREf2EMA - - - - 2,763 - 2,763 - 2,763
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ A2 ENALSE - - - - 2,763 21,851 24614 17,767 42,381
Transfer to statutory reserve BERETRE - - - 6,942 - (6,942) - - -
Issue of shares under placing (note 32(2)) I EEEZRM (H:320a)) 810 36,675 - - - - 37,485 - 37,485
Transaction costs attributable to issue of ~ BEREXTRABERFRE
shares under placing - (537) - - - - (537) - (537)
Capital contribution from non-controlling ~ JFZRER 2 HE
interest - - - - - - - 1,475 1475
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 #2022F12 4318
R203%F1718 4,962 202,858 62,659 20,379 (2,250) 42,533 331,141 19,242 350,383
Profit for the year Epiai - - - - - 19,451 19,451 5423 24,874
Other comprehensive loss for theyear — FRMEM2EEE - - - - (251) - (251) - (251)
Total comprehensive (loss)income ERRE(ER)/WALE
for the year - - - - (251) 19,451 19,200 5423 24,623
Transfer to statutory reserve BERETRE - - - 2778 - (2,778) - - -
Issue of shares from right issue (note 32(c)) R EEMRETRE (H33200)) 1743 258305 - - - - 266,048 - 266,048
Transaction costs attributable to issue of 5 & BTG R B4
shares from right issue - (2,468) - - - - (2,468) - (2,468)
At 31 December 2023 R2023%128318 12,705 458,695 62,659 23,157 (2,501) 59,206 613,921 24,665 638,586
Notes: Pt 5T
(@) The subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC shall (@)  IRFEFBEQEE AR E R B A K
appropriate 10% of their annual statutory net profit (after &~ w78 2 AR BORTE AR R (AR SE AT 1]
offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the statutory reserve fund BAFEBER)MI0%ERE LT HE
account in accordance with the PRC Company Law. When the DRP MBS A RERLINE LR
balance of such reserve fund reaches 50% of the subsidiary’s BRAH)50% « RIADE 2R & (RAEAE — 2
share capital, any further appropriation is optional. The statutory BE - NESEEIER AEHEDA
reserve fund can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to AERERATFEBEIIEE -
increase capital after proper approval.
(b)  Capital reserve represents the difference between the aggregate (b) EBEAREEIEHE2016F12A318LLFE

amount of issued and fully paid share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the
shares issued by the Company in exchange for the entire equity
interests in the subsidiaries as part of the Group reorganisation
during the year ended 31 December 2016.

AN AP O A R BV B BT MR AR
R4 RE B AR A B AR ER P B A R 2 AR AR
BERASBEA SN BTROE
BERENZERE-

FIBEERARLT —B-=FFRH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12H31H It F /&
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{hE=2 AR¥T R ARETT
Operating activities RETH
Profit before tax I B2 Bl v ) 35,637 62,667
Adjustments for: MATIEBEELFAR:
Depreciation of property, plantand #1% B E MEEITE
equipment 17 9,610 6,925
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 18 606 606
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, Hjﬁq%i E REEZ
plant and equipment Yezk) B8 9 (6) 831
Written off of inventory ﬁh’ﬂl?ﬁ'?—f 9 (13,647) -
Written off of property, plant and MEEE  HE KR E
equipment 9 - 1
Provision for impairment loss under JEHA{E & E I8N E T
ECL model on trade receivables BoREWNAIEZ
BEE R 11 4,061 2,239
Bank interest income RITFB WA 8 (182) (181)
Finance costs B 755 AR K 10 688 403
(Gain)/loss on disposal of financial HERAFEEFAEBRZ
assets at FVTPL cEMEEZ (K&E) BB (4,032) 10,416
Loss on fair value change of financial R AFEFABRNOEHEE
assets at FVTPL ZRFEEHEE 2,181 10,585
Share of result of an associate DIGEEE R R EE 19 82 77
Exchange gain, net PE Wz 5 R 9 (61) (129)
Operating cash inflows before LEESEHANKEES
movements in working capital mA 34,937 94,440
Increase in inventories ZFEEN 3,578 (66,966)
Increase in trade and bills receivables & 5 &3 IE&JEH&KTFPJJH (101,333) (56,648)
Increase in prepayments, deposits TERT IR ~ Hd I E e HGR
and other receivables el il (128,904) (3,829)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills & S FE RIBA N FEEZHE
payables CRLA), /10 (17,118) 30,645
Increase in other payables Hih N RIBRERE A
and accruals 0 6,814 3,573
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income EZEU ASZ 0~ (55 2) 3,363 (137)
Cash (used in)/generated from &SRS () FTBR 4
operating activities (198,663) 1,078
Income tax paid BERETEH (17.654) (15,579)
Net cash used in operating activities &2 EEFTAIR & /55 (216,317) (14,501)

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REREMNER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE AR%T T ARETT
Investing activities REED
Additions of items of property, plant  AEWE - HE L& E
and equipment (14,983) (27,593)
Prepayments for additions of property, FEfDARBYE  BiFE R EE
plant and equipment (42,305) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE BELEZE
plant and equipment Fr S 38 35 133
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank PIRFIRITER
deposits () (1,872) 2,850
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL BB E R A FEF ABREH
TREE (8.856) -
Net proceeds from disposal of HEZAFEFTFAETN
financial assets at FVTPL TREEZSHRIAFHE 9,072 9,579
Capital injection into an associate —MBERARZEE 19 (2,700) -
Interest received 2 AR 182 181
Net cash used in investing activities WEEETAIRS FRE (61,427) (14,850)
Financing activities MEETE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEFTENIA 25,000 10,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE (10,000) -
Advance from related companies B2k NCIE TN 1,006 447
Capital contribution from EERERTE
non-controlling interests - 1,475
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TSR 266,048 37,485
Payment of issue costs X fNETER (2,468) (537)
Interest paid AR E (688) (403)
Net cash generated from financing METHSRE FE
activities 278,898 48,467
Net increase in cash and cash ReERBEEEY
equivalents B nERE 1,154 19,116
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHzHEEMREEEY
beginning of the year 48,112 28,447
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEFH 28
changes (314) 549
Total cash and cash equivalents at FRZASEASEEMREE
the end of the year 48,952 48,112
FIEBXERERAR —ZB=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
1.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

GENERAL INFORMATION

Diwang Industrial Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited
liability. The registered office address is at 89 Nexus Way,
Camana Bay, Grand Cayman KY1-9009, Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business of the Company is Suites
4404-10, 44/F, One Island East, 18 Westlands Road,
Taikoo Place, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in
the manufacturing and sales of faux leather chemicals
and Chinese baijiu. The shares of the Company
(the “Shares”) are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the presentation currency
of the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest
thousands (“RMB’000") except otherwise indicated.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is different from the Company’s functional
currency of Hong Kong dollars (“HKS$"). The directors
of the Company adopted RMB as presentation currency
as the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the
PRC.

2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHmRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

New and amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to IFRSs issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

IFRS 17 (including the June
2020 and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform-
Pillar Two model Rules

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 8
Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments define accounting
estimates as “monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An
accounting policy may require items in financial statements
to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting
policy. The amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates, and changes in
accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year had
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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e B ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
2.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS
1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to
the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance
but has affected the disclosure of the Group's material
accounting policies set out in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the
amendments, accounting policy information that is
standardised information, or information that only
duplicates or summarises the requirements of the IFRSs, is
considered immaterial accounting policy information and
is no longer disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements so as not to obscure the material
accounting policy information disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, E2023F12H31H 1L FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Non-current Liabilities with

Amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Covenants?
Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance
and IFRS 7 Arrangements?

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025.

Except for the amendments to IFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other amendments to IFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements
in the foreseeable future.
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REMBHERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

2. 2.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale
or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures deal with situations where there is a sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments
state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control
of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a
transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is
accounted for using the equity method, are recognised
in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the
remeasurement of investments retained in any former
subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method)
to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to

have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to IAS 1 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to IAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the ”2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date
for classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity's own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect its
classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

e specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting
period. Specifically, the amendments clarify
that the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the requirements introduced
by the 2020 Amendments have been modified by the
2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that
only covenants with which an entity is required to comply
with on or before the end of the reporting period affect
the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants
which are required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at
the end of the reporting period.
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REMBHERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

2. 2.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to IAS 1 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to IAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk that the
liabilities could become repayable within twelve months
after the reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when
the entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities
is subject to the entity complying with covenants within
twelve months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022
Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted.
If an entity applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier
period after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the
entity should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that
period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2023, the related terms and conditions
stipulated in the agreements between the Group and the
relevant lenders, the application of the 2020 and 2022
Amendments will not result in reclassification of the
Group’s liabilities.
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RAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with accounting policies which
conform with IFRSs issued by the IASB. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decision made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and companies
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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SEMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

3. 3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for a property
interest which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease
is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. When the payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land
and building elements, the entire property is generally
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets (other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Building held for own use

3.

REVBRRNEREERE
REFTHRER (&)

M BMERRE

ME BEERKEEEANEESR
HE @K R - KB RITEE WM
BEOEF(TRERIRRRIN DR
PR E & RETITE R AR RFHRE
BRIE)NFAEMBRARAZ

EAKEN-REREELHRET
Mo M ERESNKE > 2ERER
VHaTERE IR L # oy REFE O+
HERRNBHATELINREEL
R FE D 2 B B - i A8 R TR
A ESR REELMZ BEELR
BUBIRARFTINRIEREEE |
AR IRRE R SE D B - WA E L3t
MERREEYBHRRART 2B
[MEREEE |- WA T LM
ErMEBFHROMERIEANSED
o AIBEMERBEEIRAME-
EEIE

7 86 4200 T 68 PR E - SR
ZEEE(ER TR MR AR
HTEREROFBEE A%
w3

over the shorter of the unexpired lease term and their estimated

useful lives, being no more than 20 years after the date of

completion
FEE AT
FIABEE RLE)
Plant and machinery 5-10 years
Heas MR 5ZE 104
Motor vehicles 5 years
B 54
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3-5 years
RN 958 /N 3E54F

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

3. 3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the assets and is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F 12H31H It F/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

J the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debts instruments/receivables
subsequent measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

3. 3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments/receivables classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments/receivables classified as at FVTOCI as a result
of interest income calculated using the effective interest
method are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes
in the carrying amount of these debt instruments/
receivables are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading of FVTOCI
reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised in
profit or loss with corresponding adjustment to other
comprehensive income without reducing the carrying
amounts of these debt instruments/receivables. When
these debt instruments/receivables are derecognised, the
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is disclosed
separately in consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHmRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit losses (“ECL"”) model on financial assets
(including trade and bills receivables, deposit and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances)
which are subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting period to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and
bills receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

3. 3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHmRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessments,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

3. 3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHmRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

3. 3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments/receivables
that are measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

3. 3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and bills payables,
other payables and accruals, amounts due to related
companies and bank borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of a financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
processing, labour and indirect overheads, and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price of
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental

costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHmRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the government
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants
are presented under “other income”.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

3. 3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting polices relating
to contracts with customers is provided in note 7.

Leases
The Group as lessee
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHmRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F 12H31H It F/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Leases (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e  the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Taxation

Income tax for the period comprises current and deferred
income tax expenses.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary difference.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period in
which the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
when there is legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHmRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise
the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus
any positive/negative returns thereof, for the purpose of
offsetting Long Service Payment (“LSP”) payable to an
employee (the "“Offsetting Arrangement”).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

3. 3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Employee benefits (continued)

Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans
(continued)

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordnance 2022
(the "Amendment Ordinance”) was gazetted on 17 June
2022, which will officially take effect on the Transition
Date (i.e., 1 May 2025).

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s
mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/
negative returns, after the Transition Date can
continue to be applied to offset the pre-Transition
Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to offset the
post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore,
the LSP obligation before the Transition Date will be
grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly
wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and
the years of service up to that date. The Group does not
consider the Amendment Ordinance to have material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The employees in the Company’s subsidiaries operating
in the PRC are members of retirement benefits scheme
(the “PRC RB Schemes”) operated by the local municipal
government. The local municipal government undertakes
to assume the retirement benefit obligation of all existing
and future retired employees of the PRC subsidiaries. The
only obligation of the PRC subsidiaries with respect to
the PRC RB Scheme is to meet the required contributions
under the PRC RB Schemes. The contributions are charged
to the profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHmRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve.

Research and development expense

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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e B ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
4,

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting material
policies, which are described in note 3 to consolidated
financial statements, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimations uncertainty

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the
Group’s material accounting policies and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Provision of ECL for financial assets measured at
amortised cost

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumption about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group use judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the debtor’s aging analysis, historical settlement
record, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable
and available without undue costs or effort at the end of
each reporting period.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade and
bills receivables, and deposits and other receivables are
disclosed in notes 5, 21 and 22.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHmRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

0]

(ii)

5. @I H

Categories of financial instruments i) &RMIEER
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET T
Financial assets at amortised cost Z#MER AT ENERMEE
— Trade receivables —E ZREWHRIE 223,343 121,714
— Deposits and other receivables — —312 4 K H fh fE W 3508 139 2,120
— Pledged bank deposits —BERRITER 4,300 2,428
— Bank balances and cash —IRITEHREIRS 48,952 48,112
276,734 174,374
Bills receivables at FVTOCI BAFEINAHEMEZEBAL
W RE 18,694 23,052
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABRRNEREE 9,522 7,763
Financial liabilities at amortised IR#EEKAFENERERS
cost
— Trade and bills payables — B RNRIEREMNER 51,538 68,656
— Other payables and accruals —HuhENRIB R ERTE R 12,131 7,036
— Amounts due to related companies — & {5 B4 5 A 7] 5018 1,453 447
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 25,000 10,000
90,122 86,139

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due
to related companies and bank borrowings.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are market risk (including interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
management reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below:

(i)
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REMBHERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F 12H31H I F/E
5.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
(@) Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to
the financial risks of changes in interest rates,
foreign currency exchange rates and equity

price.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Bank borrowings bearing fixed
rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk but the exposure to the Group
is considered immaterial. The exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk for the Group's
bank balances and pledge bank deposits are
considered immaterial as at 31 December 2023
and 2022. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is

presented for interest rate risk.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group is expose to the foreign currency risk
arising from financial instruments which are
primarily denominated in United Stated Dollars
("USD") from its ordinary operating activities,
these are not the functional currency of the
group entities to which these transactions

relate.

As at each reporting date, foreign currency
denominated financial assets, translated into

RMB closing rates, are as follows:

5.

SRTHEZ)
HREEBREERERKE(Z)

(i)

(a)

™ i% Ak

REBERFE ERZHE
B - HMVETE R | R ANBAS
BB T LB o

FU = =] iz
FxRBEHRTENAD
FEKBEREATISH
T“E)Jﬁﬁﬂjiﬁﬁibmﬂ
By o L EE FIERFT B ZIRTT
BESAEEAZATE
FIERR  EAEEER
B B I N8 K - FR20234F
202212 A31B AR EH
RITHEB REEMRITHE
DA E S RERE
BRI E K o EIt - W
5 FERRBRE DT

I B
SRR R 2 R T AM(E
TEII:T“@JHﬁ/&"EiJH’JH
o ARBBEEARKEER
EJJEE&EEM%E((%
TDEIMENERTAESE
HISNE LR - ez FIMNE L
3Eéﬁi§§%?¢%ﬁ%§ﬁ’9%
BEENIEES

REHE B IS
RN R MU 2 i
e EEERIINT -

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREBT AR®EF T
Trade receivables: B S RYBGK
—USD —ZEIT 1,011 677

2023 Annual Report




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

SRTHEZ)
(i) BREREEEEREE(Z)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5.

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(@) Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the
sensitivity as at the end of each of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in foreign currency exchange rates,
with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's post-tax profit (2022: post-tax profit)
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets) and the Group's entities.

(a)

iz Ak (&)
I B (E)
TRININEHREGRE
FTEEMAI B REZEHT
BHIERT AEERNFE
(20224 - BigEH)
N 7N £ (B F B NS [ R
IR A IR Al e & B A BLRK
E(HREBEENQATE

Increase/

(decrease) in
rate of Impact on
foreign post-tax
currency profit

IMBE R

i HERBLR
(TE) oy lped 7

At 31 December 2023 72023F12H831H
If RMB weakens against USD AR N ETEE
If RMB strengthens against USD  fiti A R#& 5,26 T FHE

At 31 December 2022 1202212 A31H
If RMB weakens against USD MARE S ETEE
If RMB strengthens against USD  fisi A R¥& 5 25 T FHE

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should
the need arise.

5 43
(5) (43)
5 29
(5) (29)

7N & B B Al SN E
HE AW AREEEE
EFSMNERK  WHRBH
Z Iy E B EAIMNER

o

FIBEERARLT —B-=FFRH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(b)

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in equity securities
measured at FVTPL. For equity securities
measured at FVTPL quoted in the Stock
Exchange, the management of the Group
manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks.
The Group has appointed a special team
to monitor the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.

The sensitivity analyses have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at
the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments
had been 5% higher/lower, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2023 would
increase/decrease by RMB476,000 (2022:
RMB388,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of financial assets at FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation
to its trade and bills receivables, deposits
and other receivables, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets.

Pledged bank deposits, bank balances
and bills receivables

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with pledged bank
deposits and bank balances since they are
substantially deposited at state-owned banks
and other medium or large-sized listed banks.
The credit risks on bills receivables are limited
because the counterparties are reputable
banks. Management does not expect that
there will be any significant losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.

2023 Annual Report
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5.

SRTHEZ)
BREMEEREERKE (&)

(ii)

(a)

(b)

miEEER (&)

R 1B 7 B
AEBRER QX FETA
18 25 1Y B AN 58 551 1 K
RABEAZERR o BLROBE
PR % A~ EF A&
MBEAESMS AEEE
BESB&EFATRRR
ZIRAHEAER IR - K
SEEZRERIEKRER
EfRER  WHNEHER
EREEHERAR -

FRE DT IRBER RS
B HI 2 B AN (B 48 B B T

—
iE °

HMEERANTEAEZEB®EE
Tt/ T 5% - BIJEE20234F
12A318 IHFE 2B %%
MR A EFABRZ
SREELATES S MmE
b A R #476,0007T
(20224 AERH#5388,0007T)°

EE R KR E TR
REBE B EE H R KRR
REWRE  Ze MEME
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RITREBREAREERR -
5 H I 48 55 A TR 4 o
S H M5 B IR T8 i A R
NEEREEMBZEER
Rk -

ERFIRITFH - RITA
BREKEE

AEEBHEBFRTHE
R MIRITAE R BB KNS
B - RE SR ERAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. @RI R

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BBEREEEEREE(E)
policies (continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b)

EE R R ER

(continued)
Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the
management makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also
guantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management believes that
there is no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition.

Trade receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group
uses an internal credit scoring system to assess
the potential customer’s credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Limits and

(&)
HEMEKRZEREZS
PE M W E RIS M
F EEEREATAEER
R BALBRIEAERTIER
MRRTIE SR FHISE
ftb JE Uy 3R I8 R 47 & 19 B] U
Bl EVE R B RIFT S - BB fE
FR1E - BB RERAR - 3%
LS EERRIT &R
Emne

BESEWRNIE

HEEZEMF RS 28 A
SEERAAREEFDF
RAGEERFPONERE
= UYRELEFPHEER

scoring attributed to customers are reviewed B-BTEFZEELERK
once a year. The Group generally allows an AN EFERF—IR AEE
average credit period ranged from 30 to 120 BERAEZEFR TN F30H

days to its customers. For certain customers,
the Group requires payments to be made
partially before delivery. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. The Group only accepts bills issued or
guaranteed by reputable PRC banks if trade
receivables are settled by bills and therefore
the management of the Group considers
the credit risk arising from the endorsed or
discounted bills is insignificant. In this regard,
the management considers that the Group’s

Z120BZ2FHEEH -8
REFTEP  AEEERKR
RAF AT A B 508 « HAth
ERREFE TIHE  UER
PREVIR 1T B YR [0 s R (R
e ARBEEZNAPHE
ZIRITRHSRIEROERE
Bt AE S EKIEREE
HEE WAEBEEREERA
AESERUREBELEN
EERBITEK Bt
= EEERALEKENE

credit risk is significantly reduced. ERRE KB -
wrmxepenan —2-=e8 |05
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(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in the PRC,
which accounted for 99% (2022: 100%) of the
total trade receivables as at 31 December 2023.
The Group has concentration of credit risk as
9% (2022: 8%) and 39% (2022: 29%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively within the Chinese Liquor Business
segment and the Faux Leather Chemicals
Business segment as referred to in note 7. In
view of the history of business dealings with
the debtors and the sound collection history of
the receivables due from them, management
believes that there is no material credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding receivable
balance due from these debtors in respect of
the receivables which were individually assessed
of Chinese liquor business for ECL and those
which were collectively assessed of faux leather
chemical for ECL saved for the debtor related
to the impaired trade receivable disclosed
below. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables with significant balances and
credit-impaired individually and/or collectively.
Except for items that are subject to individual
evaluation, which are assessed for impairment
individually, the remaining trade receivables
are grouped based on aging of outstanding
balances. Impairment of RMB4,061,000 (2022:
RMB2,239,000) is recognised during the year.
Details of the quantitative disclosures are set
out below in this note.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

SRTHEZ)
HREEBREERERKE(Z)

(b) EEEREKRRETME

(43 )
(A8 )

EZEKE (&)
M2023F12A318 A& H
ZEE SN EERBES
SRR 8 SRR
T5 48 %8 H999% (20224 :
100%)° A& B M E B Rk
S TR E S EKFIE
{EEERI9%(20224F : 8% ) I
39%(20224F : 29% ) D R A
ER A B R AR K
FE7A BT BB 255 2B A
MATELERERDIBA
MAXEFEHFIE - E7B
FEZEER AR EBEI R
MR ZEEHSATENR
TGRSR BEREER AN
EEREBTEEREES
B BB SR EIGRIE K&
SR HTEEEEEMA
TR BREBRIEWGRIE
M AU B F FEUGZ EETEA
(TXFHZEHEEREEZ S
JE U SR IE FE B M B 75 A B
SN IR AE FIWEE
XERR - BER2RIKE
ERk - AEEEEEDE
K—YEXEBEETEERE
ELAREE#AZ -

AN REBRIBFEREE
EEEXABAEEEREHR K
EHREERENE SR
FBEBRRAEETR
BT o BREBEBEI TR
K18 B BT EREI - f4
TESREKWZEREARESR
R BRERETT DM - RN
EEBABABEAREK
4,061,0007T(20224F = AR
#2,239,0007T )° T = K &=
BIEFIBE TR AR FE 3 o



-

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z2023412A31H IF F/ZE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €T HR%E)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BBERETEEERBE (&)
policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERKKBENM
(continued) (%&)
Trade receivables (continued) ESEWIE(E)
The following table provides information about TREINHPEPEEE
the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables B(EEERE)BERER &
which are assessed on individual and collective SR EDE(HIE F B
basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). BERNEERREE -
Debtors with significant outstanding balances M2023F12A318 - BRE 42
with gross carrying amount of RMB126,884,000 B AR126,884,0007THY
and debtors with gross carrying amount of BEAREEEHRLEMRE
RMB105,729,000 as at 31 December 2023 B AN RE105,729,0007T 69 fE
(2022: RMB43,156,000 and RMB83,767,000) U BR FR(20224F : A R ¥
were assessed individually and collectively 43,156,000 & A R ¥
respectively. 83,767,0007T) B 5 RIET TE
BN ERE R -
RVB000
AREFL
2023 2022
20235 20205
Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowance Gross carrying amount  Credit loss allowance
EHAE EEFERE FEaE RERERE
Proportion Proportion  Carrying Proportion Proportion  Carrying
Amount (%) Amount (%) amount  Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
Category BHl S8 L% 8 W% REE 28 Hhl%) &8 Hhl%) BEE
Provision on individual basis % {8 5| EExtE
- Trade receivables ~-BHENFE 126,884 55 (2,269) 18 124615 43,156 34 (531) 12 42,625
Provision on a collective basis 125 fe & xR
~ Trade receivables ~BSENEE 105,729 5 (7.00) 66 98728 83767 66 (4,679) 56 79,089
Total @i 232,613 00 (9270) -3303 126923 00 (5,209) -

wruxersman —s-—=2¢8% 107/
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e BB RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12H31H IFF/E

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. @IA%E)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BBERETEEERBE (&)

policies (continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(b) fEE kKR E L

(continued) (#&)
Trade receivables (continued) ESEKE (&)
() Analysis of trade receivables for which () IREREEHREEE

credit loss allowance is provided on an

individual basis:

BB E SR
KAREEZDN -

2023 Closing Balance
20235 B R &8k

Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion
amount allowance (%)
Item BE RE&E CEFRRE EE (%)
Trade receivables 1 BRI 18,317 288 1.6%
Trade receivables 2 EC LGN 18,362 289 1.6%
Trade receivables 3 EC T L CYE 16,642 262 1.6%
Trade receivables 4 B HEMRIEA 13,111 265 2.0%
Trade receivables 5 B HREWFRIES 16,727 263 1.6%
Trade receivables 6 ECl LG 9,707 152 1.6%
Trade receivables 7 EC LNV 10,712 168 1.6%
Trade receivables 8 B SR KIES 7,492 118 1.6%
Trade receivables 9 B SRR 7,396 332 4.5%
Trade receivables 10 B HEWFIE0 8,418 132 1.6%

126,884 2,269

2022 Closing Balance
2022F BRI

Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion
amount allowance (%)
Item BE FH@E EFEBERE £ B1(%)
Trade receivables 1 B S EWZIE 6,319 (72) 1.1%
Trade receivables 2 B S EWZIE? 6,005 (69) 1.1%
Trade receivables 3 g S WA 5,574 (64) 1.1%
Trade receivables 4 Z 5 EWFEL 4,438 (64) 1.4%
Trade receivables 5 B S W IBS 5,122 (58) 1.1%
Trade receivables 6 B S ENTIEG 3,215 (37) 1.2%
Trade receivables 7 B S RWGET 5,718 (65) 1.1%
Trade receivables 8 g S EWGES 2,379 27) 1.1%
Trade receivables 9 g SEWNFEY 1,640 (44) 2.7%
Trade receivables 10 BESEWKFIE0 2,746 (31) 1.1%

43,156 (531)

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £20234F 1231 H 1 F/Z
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment

5. T@IA%E)
(i) HEAMETEEEREE (&)

(b) fEEm B KR E L

(continued) (&)
Trade receivables (continued) BZEWTIE (&)
Past due but not impaired
CEBMERRE
within 91 to over
Current 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
BN ER 90HA 91Z180H #iB180H Fohy
At 31 December 2023 $®2023F12A431H
Expected loss rate (%) AHEEE(%) 191 2.90 10.96 35.36 6.62
Gross carrying amount BEREEE(ARETT)
(RMB'000) 46,674 38,696 9,070 11,289 105,729
Loss allowance (RMB'000) E#E#EE (ARETT) 892 1,123 994 3,992 7,001
Past due but not impaired
EaBERAE
within 91 to over
Current 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
BE 90AMA 91Z180H #BiE180H M@t
At 31 December 2022 #2022 12A31H
Expected loss rate (%) BHEBE(%) 1.47 1.92 6.60 31.10 5.58
Gross carrying amount BEREEE(ARETT)

(RMB'000) 34,347 29,797 10,200 9,423 83,767
Loss allowance (RMB'000) 1% & (ARB T ) 504 572 673 2,929 4,678
The estimated expected loss rate are estimated fHEt B R TR EMLR T
based on default rates over the expected life 2R KL EE BRI
of the debtors within the same industry and B FEW R IERN AT FE R
similar risk characteristics and are adjusted for R A RMEET WA
forward-looking information that is available BTEMAE RNA &
without under cost or effort. SHREEEEELRFAZE -

FEBXEZERERAT —BI=ZFFRH
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(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

The Group’'s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following

categories:

Internal

credit rating Description

REEEFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5.

SRTHEZ)

(i) BIREAREEEEREE(Z)

(b) EEEREKRRETME

=)
(#4&)

AEE A EREE R
REHHBEATERSR :

Trade and bills
receivables

B 5 EWRIE
REKWEE

Other financial
assets

HtteMEE

Low risk

KRR

Doubtful
RER

Loss

BB

Write-off
58

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

The counterparty has a low risk of
default and does not have any past-
due amounts

RGEFENRARE B EE(TEE
TR

There have been significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed
internally or external sources

RBARENERIINBER FE
[E\B B B R HER DA SRR 15 AN

There is evidence indicating the asset
is credit-impaired

ERBEBRREEREERE

There is evidence indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

BEBBRANEBARRBRENHTER
B AEEER LW EKEFIEL
QIEEE

2023 Annual Report

Lifetime ECL — not
credit-impaired

2 HIFREEE
B-WIHEE
DERIE!

Lifetime ECL — not
credit-impaired

2HEEBEEE
B-YWIEE
DRI

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

> HEHEEE
B—-EERE

Amount is written
off

EEMEEES
5}

12-month ECL
128 ATEEE BB

18

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

2 HTEHEEES
B-WIEEER
(=]

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

HIFEHESE
B—EERE

Amount is written
off
EEMIEEESR
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RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, Z2023F12H31H IFFZE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial assets which

are subject to ECL assessment:

As at 31 December 2023

5. E@MIEE)

(i) MBERBREBEEREE(E)

(b) FERMBRKRRMERIMHE

(#%)

TERFINAEEEREE
MEERR  HAKXEY
= E BRI

M2023%12A31H

Gross
Internal credit carrying
rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount
AT EETR NREAREBEBEESE BEREE
RMB’'000
AR¥T
Financial assets
ctRMEE
Trade receivables Low risk (note (a))  Lifetime ECL 173,558
(note 21) KRB (Mi5EG@)) (not credit-impaired)
B 5 e lkoE (fisE21) T HITEEEEEIE
(WIEEERIE)
Doubtful (note (a)) Lifetime ECL 57,086
RER (F5E@)) (not credit-impaired)
T HAITEEEEEIE
(WIEEERE)
Loss (note (b)) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 1,969
E518 (M 5E(b)) FHIFEEE BB (EERE)
Bills receivables Low risk (note (a)) Lifetime ECL 18,694
(note 21) KR (MI5E ) (not credit-impaired)
FEWE IR (B EE21) FHITEEE B E5E
(W IEEERE)
Deposits and other Low risk (note (¢))  12-month ECL 142
receivables (note 22) K& (Bi3E(c)) 1218 ATEHEE S
Ze &k E M ERGRIE
(MF3%22)
Cash and bank Low risk 12-month ECL 48,952
balances (note 24)  KER 1218 AT EAE B E1E
Re MIRTT4 8
(FF5E24)
Pledged bank deposits Low risk 12-month ECL 4,300

(note 24) LB
EIRBIRITER(HE24)

128 AEMEEER

FIERERARDA

—Eo=HERH 111
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e BB RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12H31H IFF/E
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Trade receivables (continued)
As at 31 December 2022

Internal credit

5. @IA%E)
(i) HEEAMETEEEREE (&)

(b) 1= B KR E R fh
(#)

ESEKE (&)
72022912 H31H

Gross carrying

rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount
NEBEEFTR 1218 Az BRTEHAE B 518 BERTAIE
RMB'000
AR®EF T
Financial assets
tHREE
Trade receivables Low risk (note (a)) Lifetime ECL (not credit- 126,923
(note 21) K@ B (Fi5E@)) impaired)
B 5 EWGRIE (M5E21) FHEMEE BB (LIFEER
&)
Bills receivables Low risk (note (a)) Lifetime ECL (not credit- 23,052
(note 21) K= B (Fi5E@)) impaired)
FEWE 15 (FiEE21) T HITREEEEIE
(W3 EERIE)
Deposits and other Low risk (note (c))  12-month ECL 2,123
receivables (note 22) K& (FizE(c)) 1218 AFEHRE E & 18
e & E MY IE
(Mi5E22)
Cash and bank Low risk 12-month ECL 48,112
balances (note 24) KRR 1218 ATEERE B 1R
We RIRITEER
(FF5E24)
Pledged bank deposits  Low risk 12-month ECL 2,428
(note 24) lagEa s 1218 AFEHR{E E & 18

EHEMIRITER (M E24)

112

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

2023 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(c)

(continued)

Notes:

(@) For trade and bills receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.

(b)  The management believes a higher expected
credit loss rate is necessary in respect of this
trade receivable as it has been past due for
over two years.

() For the purposes of internal credit risk
management, the Group uses the latest
available financial and other information
about the debtors to assess whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. As at 31 December 2023 and
2022, these balances are either not past due
or do not have fixed repayment.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the
Group will not be able to meet its obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or another financial
asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in
respect of settlement of trade payables and
its financing obligations, and also in respect
of its cash flows management. The Group’s
objective is to maintain an appropriate level of
liquid assets and committed lines of funding to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

Management monitors the cash flows
forecasts of the Group in meeting its liabilities.

5. T@IA%E)
(i) BREREEEEREE(Z)

(b)

(c)

FIERERARDA

& 2 LB IR RLEL B4
()
B At

(a) BLEZEWHIENER
REMS ~NEEER
BB B 75 ol 5 E RIS
BB ER MBS
CRERZEBREE-

b EEERAENEHE
W BB B8 B R
o EE 2 EREE
ZBUE-

(0 HAFEERBREEM
FAKEFERBEHEE
AR A SIS &
HEmERFTHEERR
G BVIREREKNR
A0 - FA20234F }2022
F12A318 ZEEH
i R B B ok I £ E E iE

o
N

REBESR KR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

5.

(c)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. @I AE)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) FHRRABRETEEERKE (&)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) (c) HRBELEME)
The following table details the Group’s remaining THIREFMANE B R B
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities TFTEAGHRENSRE ERE
with agreed repayment periods. The table has BE DR WMEIR - BRI
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash DHERE B ERNRAIRE
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest EMEBLANER A LR Bk
date on which the Group may be required to NEm&EF AR - A2
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment mE - MR EREEEK
on demand clause are included in the earliest HIRTTER T ASZERE
time band regardless of the probability of the TrRIRTIB BT AR A
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The table AgeMt - BARBEHENE
includes both interest and principal cash flows. EAR[ERE - WHER
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, ERFEINE RUKRSHE
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest THERE IR E BIRA A = dh
rate curves at the end of the reporting period. The IRHEE o & R fE i HABR Th &
contractual maturity is based on the earliest date AL B AT RE ESRAN FREY
on which the Group may be required to pay. =FAEEE -
Weight
average Ondemand Over 1year Over 2 years Total Total
effective  orwithin and within  and within undiscounted  carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5years cash flows amount
nEFY  REXY BE1ER  BEERE AERRES
ERAZ  MER MFR RSER REEE  AREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARETn ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12831H
Non-derivative financial liabilities {72 B 8B
Trade and bills payables EARNTBRENRE - 51,538 - - 51,538 51,538
Other payables and accruals A ERFEREHER - 12,131 - - 12,131 12,131
Amounts due to related companies [ 1 BB 1\ E1FR - 1453 - - 1453 1453
Bank borrowings R/ilE 369 27,428 - - 27,428 25,000
92,550 - - 92,550 90,122
At 31 December 2022 20205128318
Non-derivative financial liabiliies  FEfT£ 2 B8 E
Trade and bills payables EARNTBRENEE - 68,656 - - 68,656 68,656
Other payables and accruals — EHERFEREHER - 7,036 - - 7,036 7,036
Amount due to a related company  FEf BB L FFR - 447 - - 447 447
Bank borrowings HEE 375 10,044 - - 10,044 10,000
86,183 - - 86,183 86,139

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5.

(iif) Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The Group's financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. In
estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. The

SRTHEZ)
(iii) EMITEMNAFE

SR EELAFEN B
FEMEMAERSBAM
AFME

AEELRAER EREBRE
AFAE B - RAEFATFES
AEBEERTS B TRRE
B TRRHEMNAEERS

following table gives information about how the fair SREEZANFEEZER -
values of these financial assets are determined.
Fair value hierarchy: NHEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& BR F=R HEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARBTT ARETT ARBFTT
As at 31 December 2023 42023%12A31H
Financial assets at FVTPL &2 FEFABEH
TRMEE
Listed equity securities ETRAE S 9,522 - - 9,522
Financial assets at FVTOCI QA FEFALMEZE
hENERHEE
Bills receivables (note) e E & (M) - 18,694 - 18,694
As at 31 December 2022 420225128318
Financial assets at FVTPL E QA FEABIEH
THEE
Listed equity securities TR AGE 7,763 - - 7,763
Financial assets at FVTOCI RAFEFAHMEE
hENEREE
Bills receivables (note) JEWERE (M) - 23,052 - 23,052

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3

during the year.

FIERERARDA

FR BB F_MEE=4
ARSI 2

—E-=FEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF
5.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(iif) Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (continued)

Note:

The fair values of bills receivables at FVTOCI included in
level 2 category have been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted
cash flow analysis, with the most significant observable
input being the discount rate that reflects the credit risk
of counterparties. The higher the discount rate, the lower
the fair value is. Due to the short-term maturities of the
bills and the relatively low discount rates, fair values
approximated the principal amounts of the bills.

The management considers that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised
cost recognised in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values due to their short-term
maturities.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt
which includes amounts due to related companies and
bank borrowings as disclosed in notes 28 and 29, net
of bank balances and cash, pledged bank deposits and
total equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and retained earnings.

Gearing ratio

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure regularly. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. The ratio is
calculated based on net debt and total equity.

2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £20234F 1231 H 1 F/Z
6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Gearing ratio (continued)

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was

as follows:

6.

EXEBEEE)
EXBEHEERGE)
BEMRNEERBLEMOT

As at 31 December

M12831H
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®TT

Amounts due to related companies FEH R E N A FUEB 1,453 447
Bank borrowings RITEE 25,000 10,000
26,453 10,447
Less: Bank balances and cash WBRTTER LIRS (48,952) (48,112)
Pledged bank deposits EHEFRITER (4,300) (2,428)
Net debt [EgeE (26,799) (40,093)
Total equity B 638,586 350,383
Gearing ratio BEAGBLE N/A T8 N/A 7 i F
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDIER
Revenue A
(a) Analysis of revenue (a) WAZHT
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ T ARET T
Revenue from contracts with KEBEFPEHZWA
customers (note): (Fe&E) -
Recognised on a point in time basis 3R — b [&] 25 tE&8
Sales of faux leather chemicals HEAILELLER 262,546 260,245
Sales of Chinese baijiu HEBB 308,026 241,192
570,572 501,437

Note: All goods are sold to distributors.

MizZ: MEEMEETHHE-

FEREERERAT —B-=FEH 117/
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF
7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Revenue (continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with

(c)

customers and revenue recognition policies

Manufacturing and sales of faux leather
chemicals and Chinese baijiu

Revenue from sales of faux leather chemicals and
Chinese baijiu are recognised when control of the
goods has transferred, being when the goods have
been shipped to the customer’s specific location
(delivery). Following the delivery, the customer has
full discretion over the manner of distribution and
price to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility
on selling the goods and bears the risks of
obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.

The Group’s obligations to provide a refund for
faulty products are under the standard warranty
terms. Accumulated experience is used to estimate
such returns at the time of sale. It is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur. Therefore, no
refund liability for goods return was recognised.
The validity of this assumption and estimate is
reassessed at each reporting date.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contract with
customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient
under IFRS 15 so that transaction price allocated to
unsatisfied performance obligations under contracts
for sales of faux leather chemicals and Chinese
baijiu are not disclosed as such contracts have an
original expected duration of one year or less.

Operating segment information

The Group’s most senior executive management has been

identified as the chief operating decision maker (“CODM")

who reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to

assess performance and allocate resources. Segment
information reported to the Board, being the CODM, for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance, focuses on the types of goods or services
delivered or provided. This is also the basis upon which the
Group is organised and managed.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, E2023F12H31H 1L FE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Operating segment information (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was
principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of faux
leather chemicals and engaging in sales of Chinese baijiu.
The Group’s reportable and operating segments for the

7.

AR D EESR (&)

REHWER(E)
EHE2023F12A31B I FE - A&EE
FERFRERFEEALECER
REHEABEK AKBEREE
20234 N2022%F12A31H EFERX

years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 2HREEDEBOT -

(@) Faux leather chemicals — manufacturing and sales (@ AIFEm—RERHEEAL
of faux leather chemicals (“Faux Leather Chemicals 2rEm((AIRERER])
Business”)

(b)  Chinese liquor business — production and sales of wine b)) BEXE-LENHEHEERE
products, including Chinese baijiu (“Chinese Liquor o BEEA(BBEER])
Business”)

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at TREEDHEATTUEREAER Y

the above reportable segments of the Group. Pt 2|mHE -

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and U TARREERRE REE5EE 5

results by reportable and operating segments: B R FEE DT -
Year ended 31 December 2023 HZ%2023F128318LLEE
Faux Leather Chinese
Chemicals Liquor
Business Business Consolidated
ATE
b @mEK =REES S "E
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT R AREFT T
SEGMENT REVENUE o EWA
External sales SNEB SH & 262,546 308,026 570,572
Segment profit 73 B F 21,505 23,407 44,912
Other income =R N 3,418
Other gains and losses, net Hph s & B 185 58 67
Share of result of an associate (L% A 7 ¥4 (82)
Gain on disposal of financial ~ H &R AFEF AEZE
assets at FVTPL ZemEE W 4,032
Loss on fair value change of BATEFAEBRZZS
financial assets at FVTPL BMEEZATFEE
&8 (2,181)
Finance costs 81 75 B A (688)
Unallocated corporate expenses & 7 ft (2 F X2 (13,841)
Group's profit before tax & B 2 BB AR 7 35,637
wrExepeRan —2-=f48% |19
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e BB RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

7.

120

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDEBEREE)
(continued)
Operating segment information (continued) ReEFEER ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE2022F12A31HILEE
Faux Leather Chinese
Chemicals Liquor
Business Business  Consolidated
ATE
LBmER SR o)
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBTT ARETTT
SEGMENT REVENUE o= (1N
External sales 57|\*|3 HE 260,245 241,192 501,437
Segment profit pal: i 11,679 82,813 94,492
Other income H A A 1,392
Other gains and losses, net  HE b5 & 58 %58 (703)
Share of result of an SREEE N B EE
associate (77)
Loss on disposal of financial &L AFE AEZR
assets at FVTPL LEMEBEE KR (10,416)
Loss on fair value change of 1ZAFEFF AEZZ
financial assets at FVTPL TRMEELATE
B EE (10,585)
Finance costs B R (403)
Unallocated corporate ROMEHEMZ
expenses (11,033)
Group's profit before tax REE 2 BRBAT & F) 62,667

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £20234F 1231 H 1 F/Z
7.

WARDEER (&)

ReENWER(E)

NTRAEERZHDMEIDNEE

liabilities by reportable segments: NKEBEDT -
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
Assets BE
Faux Leather Chemicals Business ATLELEBRER 314,955 266,508
Chinese Liquor Business SHiEL S 358,525 116,535
Total segment assets DEPEELRTR 673,480 383,043
Unallocated corporate assets KoBebEEE 64,111 63,335
Consolidated total assets A BERTE 737,591 446,378
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREEF T
Liabilities DEEE
Faux Leather Chemicals Business ATLFERER 83,775 42,030
Chinese Liquor Business SHiESS 1,665 40,857
Total segment liabilities DEE B 85,440 82,887
Unallocated corporate liabilities V2N i =K 13,565 13,108
Consolidated total liabilities FeBEERE 99,005 95,995
FIBERRERAT —ZT-=FF%H
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SEMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

7.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Operating segment information (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

The material accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group's material
accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of other income, other gains and
losses, net, share of result of an associate, gain/
(loss) on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL, loss
on fair value change of financial assets at FVTPL,
finance costs and unallocated corporate expenses.

all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than investment in an associate, financial assets at
FVTPL and corporate assets.

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
other than corporate liabilities.

2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F 12H31HIFF/E
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

Other segment information

7. WARDEER#)

43R A&
\:|:
H

=

Faux leather

LD WER(E)
th 7 BB & #

Chinese liquor

chemicals business Total
AIEER RS et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBT R ARBTR
Year ended 8220235128318
31 December 2023 LEE
Capital expenditure (note (a)) BEREY (H@) 14,983 - 14,983
Depreciation of property, mE - WERSETE
plant and equipment 9,610 - 9,610
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 606 - 606
Allowance for expected credit losses, net TEHEEEBEEFE 2,323 1,738 4,061
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAX 12,920 150,227 163,147
Research and development expenses MERL 9,725 - 9,725
Faux leather  Chinese liquor
chemicals business Total
AIELER HEER Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT
Year ended BZ2022F12A3101L
31 December 2022 FE
Capital expenditure (note (a)) ERAx (M) 27,593 - 27,593
Depreciation of property, mE - B RSETE
plant and equipment 6,925 - 6,925
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELENE 606 - 606
Allowance for expected credit losses, net FEHEA(Z EEEAEEE 1,708 531 2,239
Selling and distribution expenses HER D HERY 9,427 67,673 77,100
Research and development expenses ML 9,618 - 9,618
Note: B & -

(@)  Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets.

() BAFRXBRERYE MELREN

MERBEEZRE -

FIERERARDA

—E-=FEH
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12A31H IF F/&E
7.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Operating segment information (continued)
Geographical information

The Group's operations are principally in the PRC and all
its non-current assets are situated in the PRC.

The Group’s revenue is derived from the PRC and
overseas (i.e. Mexico, Turkey and Vietnam) based on the
location of goods delivered, as follows:

7.

WARDEER (&)

eI WER(E)

HwEER

AEEETERTEZE BEMBIE
MEEEDMNFE

AEE TR LEINEREF L5
HN B EENBAZARZNEY
HEESIT

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31MBLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
The PRC =8 563,764 497,849
Overseas I 6,808 3,588
570,572 501,437

Information about major customer FREIEEFNER

There is no customer contributing individually over
10% of the Group's revenue during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

2023 Annual Report
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RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, Z2023F12H31H IFFZE

Note: Government grants represent various forms of subsidies
granted to the Group by the local government authorities
in the PRC for compensation of expenses incurred by the
Group. These grants are generally made for business support
and awarded to enterprises on a discretionary basis. The
Group also received government grants in respect of its
investments in the PRC. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HUgA
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31MBLEE

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARET T

Bank interest income RITH B A 182 181

Government grants (note) BT B (FMI3E) 2,772 695

Sundry income HMIEUWA 464 516

3,418 1,392

B AE + U 7 B 35 7P B 3t 77 BT # B8 1A AX
SERFENSELANME - AR
MEAREELNER - ZEM/HE
—RAREBXE IRBEE TR
K- ARERENPENRERE
SBTHEE - IR E R BA
HRBITIRIF A ER

9. HibWmKEEFE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®EF T
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEYE BELEEZ
plant and equipment Wzt (BE) 6 (831)
Written off of property, plant and Wi - BB MR
equipment - )
Exchange gain, net PE 5 Wz F 58 61 129
67 (703)
FIEBXERERAR —ZB=FFR

e
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e BB RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

10. FINANCE COSTS

10. B A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31HLLFE
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AR®EF T
Interest on bank borrowings RITBEEZFE 688 403

11. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Profit before tax is arrived at after charging:

1. BREADRF

BRI A A TSRS HIBR A T &S TRER -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®EF T
Auditor's remuneration % ELED B 810 666
Cost of materials sold & MR AR A 175,005 188,373
Cost of liquor purchased for resell REBEMRERBMKAR 130,132 88,254
Written off of inventories FEMIE (T ABEKAR)
(included in cost of inventories sold) (BFsE)
(note) 13,647 -
Depreciation: e
— Depreciation of property, plantand —#% BMERZREITE
equipment 9,610 6,925
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ —{f & EFTE 606 606
10,216 7,531
Less: amount included in cost of sales & : 5+ A $5 & B A~ 49 5% 18 (6,584) (5,487)
3,632 2,044

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, Z2023F12H31H IFFZE

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 11. BRERNRR (&)
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31HLLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T ARETTT
Directors’ remuneration EE=HM 1,626 1,832
Staff costs (excluding directors’ ETIRAN (TEREESEHM)
remuneration)
— wages, salaries, allowances and bonus — L& - % & 284 M IEAT 29,282 24,105
— contributions to retirement benefits  — iR (K 1@ F 51 2 ¢t 2k
schemes 3,579 3,319
32,861 27,424
Less: amounts included in cost of sales J& : 5+ A 45 & A 28 #) 20 18 (13,774) (9,863)
19,087 17,561
Advertising expenses (included in EERY (GTAHEHER
selling and distribution expenses) S 148,099 66,320
Research and development expenses #2453 (5+ ATT &%
(included in administrative and )
general expenses) 9,725 9,618
Expenses for short-term lease CHAHERR Y 3,160 1,257
Note: The inventories of approximately RMB1,578,000 are Msx: HFEHARE!,578,000T H
written off due to obsolescence, and approximately FREMmTHE RO ARK
RMB12,069,000 are measured at net realisable value. 12,069,0007T ¥ 7] & 38 % (B 7
o

FIBEERARLT —B-=FFRH

e
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SEMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

12. FIfEHAX

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AR®EF T
PRC Enterprise Income Tax H B 1 PR ISAE
("EIT") ([¥mBHR])
— Current income tax —BNERFT1S 8 11,599 23,385
Deferred tax (note 30) EEFR A (MI5E30) (836) (336)
Total tax charge for the year FARIBY HBE 10,763 23,049

The PRC

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
its operations in the PRC was calculated at tax rate of
25% on the assessable profits for both years, based on
the existing legislation, interpretations and practices in
respect thereof, except as described below.

Zhejiang Sunlight Material Technology Co., Ltd. is
approved as “high and new technology enterprise”
and accordingly, it is subject to a reduced preferential
corporate income tax rate of 15% for the reporting
period.

Cayman Islands, BVI and Hong Kong

No provision for taxation has been recognised for
companies incorporated in the Cayman Islands, BVI and
Hong Kong as they are not subject to any tax during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Withholding Tax in Mainland China ("WHT")

According to the New Corporate Income Tax Law (“New
EIT Law"), distribution of profits earned by companies in
Mainland China since 1 January 2008 to foreign investors
is subject to withholding tax of 5% or 10%, depending
on the country of incorporation of the foreign investors,
upon the distribution of profits to overseas incorporated
immediate holding companies.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

Withholding Tax in Mainland China (“"WHT")
(continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the retained earnings of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries not yet remitted to
holding company incorporated outside of the PRC,
for which no deferred income tax liability had been
provided, were approximately RMB133,987,000 (2022:
RMB108,002,000). For this unrecognised amount, the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

By the Tax Arrangement for Avoidance of Double Taxation
between China and Hong Kong, a Hong Kong resident
company should be entitled to a preferential tax rate of
5% when receiving dividend from its investee in the PRC
if such investor is the beneficial owner of the PRC entity
of over 25% interest. Taylor Investment International
Limited (“HK Taylor”), which is incorporated in Hong
Kong and owns the entire equity interests of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC, enjoys the preferential
tax rate aforementioned. Accordingly, the future
dividends from the PRC subsidiaries of the Group will be
subject to withholding tax at the applicable tax rate of
5%.

12. FIERIEE (&)

B Pyt TR BE ([ FRHBL D) (42)

2023F 128318 » ZEE T KB
A B s AR EE F AR BRSNS A 1
A BIMRE BF (W ERR AR
s &) 45 ARK133,987,0007T
(20224 : A FR#108,002,0007C )° 5t
FZAEREEM S - AEBEESIEHIE
Rt B2 O AR BEREEZER
AJEETE R TE R AR R & A o

H2008F 1188  IRIEBEDLEFEH
ERHEmME - AEBELSNRF
DR B BB IR10% B 1 ¥ TS
B YR EEEEN - RIBE(PER
HEEBHEESHMLEE) BFE
RARPUERE P BRI EHRHE
BEEZIS%EEMRE AiRRE
REEBZTREES%EZNER
BEAN - BFELEBRBERABE
BREE D) IR BB MK kAR
EEA R EAME R IR
MAZZ EMEEHRE AL 546
MR ANEMZEN B AR MNTER
IREEREBEECHE  BRAMREA
5% °
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REMBHERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 12. FRISBIBAZ(4&)
The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled FRMTEREY AJEGEEREE
to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of b 2 TH U 25 3R PIT K B A5 A i ) 69 BR 40
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: T

Year ended 31 December

BZ=12A318LLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR®ETE

Profit before tax bR 7 Bl g 35,637 62,667

Tax at applicable tax rate applicable to % i@ F3 72 #8 B8 B) A 1 & )% 7 A9

profits in the jurisdiction concerned HRAMEFENBIE 9,157 18,200
Tax effect of share of result of an JEh — B & R R AN

associate T 20 19
Tax effect of expenses not deductible — ~A] 305 5 % 10 Fi 75 2 &

for tax purposes 5,559 5,908
Tax effect of income not taxable for ~ HZEZR B AT L&

tax purposes (1,581) (370)
Effect attributable to the additional 55 B A BT B Ak AN AE B B9 BB A1

qualified tax deduction relating to AEEBHMEREHNTE

research and development costs (1,785) (2,404)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses  KIERHIBBIBN R TE 860 1,988
Tax concession T TE R (1,467) (292)

10,763 23,049

1 3 O DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £20234F 1231 H 1 F/Z

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EEME
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of WEFEARNEBETERD [ E
the Company (including emoluments for services as NARREENME(BIEKRKALRR
employees/directors of the Group prior to becoming the REEREALNEBRE TR
directors of the Company) by entities comprising the BEE) T -

Group during both years are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2023

BEZ03F12B3101LEE
Salaries,
allowance Retirement
Directors'  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonus  contribution Total
el
EShe  RENEN BMERAL  BRGTHLER EH)

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETr  AR®Tn  AR%®TR  AR®TZ

Executive directors: YrES:
Mr. Chen Hua RErs - 513 - 9 522
Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel S - 216 - 12 28
Mr. Sun Jingang i bk - - - - -
Mr. Tse Chun Chung AERRE - 216 - 12 28
Mr. Gu Jianguo BRELE

(resigned on 3 March 2023) (20233438 E(T) - 70 - - 70
Ms. Zhu Jiangin REELL

(resigned on 3 March 2023) (20233430 E(T) - 65 - - 65

Independent non-executive directors: B FHTES:

Mr. Au Hei Ching BEFELE 108 - - - 108
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace EX oyt 108 - - - 108
Mr. Zheng Yu ek
(resigned on 24 January 2024) (202451 24 EHT) 108 - - - 108
Ms. Zhou Xiaochun BERL 108 - - - 108
Mr. Ho Ho Tung Armen EX iyt
(resigned on 1 October 2023) (R2023F10A1HE() 81 - - - 81
513 1,080 - 3 162

wIEEERERAT —e-=fe8 ]3]
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SEMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF
13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

13. EEME (&)

Year ended 31 December 2022

HENENANALEE
Salaries,
allowance Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonus  contribution Total
Ge2H
20 REWEN BEEL  RIRHEIER &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT  ARETR  AR%TR  ARETR
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Chen Hua BELE - 318 - 9 327
Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel MR E (12022F
(appointed on 25 May 2022) SASREZRM) - 124 - 6 130
Mr. Tse Chun Chung HERLE (R200F
(appointed on 25 May 2022) 5ASHEZT) - 124 - 6 130
Mr. Sun Jingang Fell%E (R00F
(appointed on 25 May 2022) SAHEZ) - - - - -
Ms. Liu Jing (Resigned on 25 May 2022) &l &+ (320226
(note (i) SABBEE) (M) - - - - -
Ms. Zhu Jiangin REERL (R2023F
(resigned on 3 March 2023) 3A3AEMT) - 317 - - 317
Mr. Wen Yongwen R (120205
(resigned on 16 May 2022) SA16AET) - 68 - 6 74
Mr. Gu Jianguo BREEE
(resigned on 3 March 2023) (R200353A3RET) - 354 - - 354
Independent non-executive directors: BYFHTEE:
Mr. Tian Jingyan BRELE (R202F
(resigned on 25 January 2022) 1AEEE) 7 - - - 7
Mr. Ho Ho Tung Armen EREE 102 - - - 102
Mr. Au Hei Ching BEERE (R202F
(appointed on 25 January 2022) 1A25REZ () % - - - 9%
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace ZHUAE (R2022F
(appointed on 25 January 2022) 1A25REZf) 9% - - - 9%
Mr. Zheng Yu Brsi (R02F
(appointed on 25 January 2022) 1A25AEZf) % - - - 9%
Ms. Zhou Xiaochun ARELL (20228
(appointed on 25 January 2022) 1A HEZR ) % - - - 9%
Ms. Yu Zhen WE Rt (120225
(resigned on 25 January 2022) 1A25HEHT) 7 - - - 7
500 1,305 - 21 1,832
Notes: Bt 5 -
() During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the (i)  EHZE2023%F K2022%128318 IEF
position of chief executive officer was vacant. & ATIRAEE 2 B TS ZE R
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2022, Ms. Liu (iy EHZE2022F12A318 1 LEEFE 2

Jing agreed to waive her emolument of approximately

RMB48,000.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

During the reporting period, there were no amounts paid or
payable by the Group to the directors or any of the highest
paid individuals set out in note 14 as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office. Except for Ms. Liu Jing who agreed to waive her
emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2022,
there was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees included 2 (2022: 0)
executive directors of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023. The emoluments of the remaining
3 (2022: 5) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

13.

14.

EEME @)
FIRITESNMEE R P RNESR
AABEEARBRAREEHHR
Bo EXFRIRBMIERTESTNME
TESRRERERNRREERMHT
AR A% ©

RERE A - AL B I (7 E = kK
AT A& EH A T2 E
T FRIRE S D0 A S AN AN 55 [ B 1) 22
Byl BB (E - RN ELE2022F12 A
JMNALFEIFRTRAEREANS
S RREFEAMEEERELR
EREE MR-

TEEEHMESHME

HE2023F12A31BLFENRE
e ES 824 (20224 : 04)
RATMITESE - 82 N34 (20224 -
SHE)ERARAREETLHZESITHAER
EaFMEENMESNT

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31MBLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARET T
Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind # & ) ZBE R EWREF 1,871 2,666
Contributions to retirement RIRAE M FT I 3R
benefits schemes 35 54
1,906 2,720

The number of remaining highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company whose
emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows:

HFHBNATHRENG TIERAGE
ERRSTHRABNESHFHES A
T

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Nil to HK$1,000,000, equivalent to £ 21,000,000 7T (FHE B
RMB900,000 (2022: RMB854,000) A E#900,0007T)
(20224 : AR #854,0007T) 3 5
FIBEERARLT —B-=FFRH

133



134

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
15.

16.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended
2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end
of the reporting period (2022: RMB Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share
during the period is based on the profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB19,451,000 (2022: profit of RMB21,851,000) and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the period of 473,142,857 (2022: 239,041,730
(restated)).

B Z2023F12H31HIFFZE
15.

16.

R E

REE2023F |FFE - WERARQF]
AR AR R S A B R 30 AR AR
B BREHRARINER S IR
AP B (20224 « ARMEZ L)

BREF

HANERERZFNDIBRERAGHESR
A FE MR F s I 49 A R #19,451,000
TC(20224F : mMEIARE21,851,000
7o) M B E R E TR E N
473,142,857/%(20224F : 239,041,7300%
(#&E7)))) e

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LLFEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Profit for the year attributable to RANTEE AFEAGERHF
owners of the Company (RMB'000) (ARETFIT) 19,451 21,851
(restated)
(& &E5)
Weighted average number of ordinary & @XM FHE ( TAX)
shares ('000) 473,143 239,042
Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) SFREREF (ARES) 4.11 9.14

Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 has
been retrospectively adjusted for the five-to-one share
consolidation of the Company which was effective on 30
May 2023 and the rights issue completed during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

No diluted earnings per share for both 2023 and 2022
were presented as there were no potential ordinary
shares in issue during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, Z2023F12H31H IFFZE

As at 31 December 2023, the buildings of approximately
RMB20,849,000 (2022: RMB22,488,000) were pledged

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. V¥ -BERERE
Furniture,
fixtures
and officc  Plant and Motor Construction
Buildings equipment  machinery vehicles in progress Total
B RER BER
BF  BORE B RE  ERIE @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cost A&
At 1 January 2022 120251518 46,068 2,542 57,708 1,922 29,924 138,164
Additions NE 32 226 2,309 1,927 23,099 27,593
Transfer g% 43,610 - 333 - (43,943) -
Written off W - - (20) - - (20)
Disposals & - - - (321) (824) (1,145)
At 31 December 2022 and #2022 12A318

1 January 2023 2023%1A1H 89,710 2,768 60,330 3,528 8,256 164,592
Additions NE - 223 5,539 115 9,106 14,983
Transfer L7 - 250 958 - (1,208) -
Disposals & - - (97) (487) - (584)
At 31 December 2023 12023%12A31H 89,710 3,241 66,730 3,156 16,154 178,991
Accumulated depreciation ~ RitHE
At 1 January 2022 1202261518 13,862 1,821 32,290 1,387 - 49,360
Charge for the year FREH 2,414 217 4,067 27 - 6,925
Written off G| - - (19) - - (19)
Disposals L& - - - (181) - (181)
At 31 December 2022 and #2022 12A318 %

1 January 2023 2023%1 818 16,276 2,038 36,338 1,433 - 56,085
Charge for the year ERNLH 4,531 323 4,304 452 - 9,610
Disposals e - - (93) (462) - (555)
At 31 December 2023 1#2023%12A31A 20,807 2,361 40,549 1,423 - 65,140
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2023 142023512431R 68,903 880 26,181 1,733 16,154 113,851
At 31 December 2022 120224124318 73,434 730 23,992 2,095 8,256 108,507

to bank for bills payables and bank borrowings.

PA2023F 12 318 + #9 A R #20,849,000
TE(20224F  AR#£22,488,0007T ) Y&

FERBNREMRITEEEM TR

7o

FIERERARDA

“ERC=FFR
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e B ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF
18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

18. EFEEE

Land use
rights
=+ ih 55 FA #E
RMB'000
ARET T
Cost 2N
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 202251 A1H ~ 2022F12A318 »
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 2023F 1818 X2023F12H31H 30,313
Accumulated depreciation H2IWE
At 1 January 2022 7202241818 3,425
Charge for the year FREH 606
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2022412 A31H K&2023%F1A1H 4,031
Charge for the year FREH 606
At 31 December 2023 7A2023%12H31H 4,637
Net carrying amount BREFE
At 31 December 2023 #2023%F12H31H 25,676

At 31 December 2022

2022512 A31H

26,282

The right-of-use assets are land use rights located in
the PRC which are under medium-term lease. The lease
contracts were entered into for a fixed term of 50 years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the
right-of-use assets of approximately RMB15,558,000
(2022: RMB16,008,000) was pledged to bank for the
Group’s bills payables and bank borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. R—EEE A T 2R
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR®ETE

Cost of investment in an associate N NI R < VN 5,700 3,000
Share of post-acquisition loss and other 25 UgBE 14 E518 & H Ath
comprehensive loss 2HEE (195) (113)
5,505 2,887
Details of the Group's associate at the end of the RE|EEARN - REEBES QRS
reporting period is as follows: wmr
Attributable equity
Place and date of Registered/ interest and voting Principal
Name of associate incorporation paid up capital rights held by the Group activities
2t f B 3L it B TMmER/ EEERAN
- INGEE kA BREX EERERRERE TEXRH
2023 2022

20235 20225

IR RIEE The PRC, RMB15,000,000 20% 20% Manufacturing
IR E £ 2 8] Zhejiang Ketian 31 December 2020 of faux leather
Water Technology Co., Ltd* chemicals
("Ketian Water")

HOLR R KRR g ARE HEANTIZE
AREELH 202012 431H 15,000,0007T a1
(TRIRKME])

* English name is for identification purpose only. * HYEZTBEHER -

FIREERERAR —g-=5% |37
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12H31H It F/E

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 19. R—REBE QAT Z2ER (&)
Summarised financial information of the associate below BERNBZMBERBINT  ZF
which represents amounts shown in the associate’s BRI IR PR B R B FS iR 5 Bl Y
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs: SNBSS IRERFT N &% ¢

As at As at

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
120235 20224
12H31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARETT

Current assets MENEE 6,986 4,304
Non-current assets IEMBEE 28,701 18,033
Current liabilities VEII=RI= 1,019 763
Non-current liabilities EREEE 7,141 7,141
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

HZE2023F  HZE2022F

12H31H 12A31H

LtEE HFEE

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETT

Revenue WA - -
Loss for the year REEEIE (407) (388)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AREE 2 HEEIEEEE (407) (388)

1 3 8 DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £20234F 1231 H 1 F/Z

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 19. R—REEE N T 2R (&)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial Ll ER EE R AR A B SRR
information to the carrying amount of the interest in PRERNBEE N EREEDENY
the associate recognised in the consolidated financial AE :
statements:

As at As at

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
7202345 20224
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TF T ARETT

Net assets of the associate B N R EEFE 27,527 14,433
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NS @ {5 B4 N T A%AE Lb 171
interest in the associate 20% 20%
Carrying amount of the Group’s REENEE QR R REE
interest in the associate 5,505 2,887
20. INVENTORIES 20. #&
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
Faux leather chemicals ATE(LER
— Raw materials — BAE 13,387 11,112
— Work in progress — B 1,276 1,174
— Finished goods —BUpk 14,587 12,050
29,250 24,336
Chinese baijiu Shi
— Raw materials — R 26,149 -
— Finished goods — 8K 52,913 73,906
79,062 73,906
108,312 98,242

wImgnRERAn —g-=2% |30
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12H31H It F/E

21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 21. EEEWESEREKEE
As at 31 December
®W12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T AR®EF T
Trade receivables (note i) B 5 EERIE (M i) 232,613 126,923
Less: provision for impairment R ERE (9,270) (5,209)
223,343 121,714
Bills receivables (note ii) e I (M Eii) 18,694 23,052
Total trade and bills receivables — net 488 5 fEYRRTE I fEIN =15 — F 58 242,037 144,766
notes: B -
(i) The following is an ageing analysis of gross amount of 0) B EWNTIEATEIREZEREHZY
trade receivables presented based on the invoice date: MR DT T ¢
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREET T
Within 30 days 30K 61,475 54,873
31 to 90 days 31£90K 104,083 37,553
91 to 180 days 91£180K 53,421 19,308
181 to 365 days 1812365k 9,906 13,220
Over 1 year BiA1F 3,728 1,969
232,613 126,923

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F 12H31HIFF/E
21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

notes: (continued)

(continued)

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

21.

EZRUWHREARERRE2)
e - (4)
ONNE)

REEE 5 RWF AR ERENE
BT

2023 2022

20235 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

At the beginning of the year REH 5,209 2,970
Provision for impairment VERIERE L] 4,592 2,239
Written-off e (531) -
At the end of the year RER 9,270 5,209

The assessment on ECL are set out in note 5(ii)(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The following is an ageing analysis of gross amount of
bills receivable presented based on the invoice date:

(ii)

EFRBRAEEBENFHEREGS
B 7 R R P 525N (D) ©

EUEZBREBREZEH27INE
oM

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T AREET T

Within 30 days 30K 5,615 8,471
31 to 90 days 31£90K 5,323 10,267
91 to 180 days 91E180K 7,756 4,314
18,694 23,052

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all bills receivables are
with a maturity period of less than 6 months.

The Group manages its bills receivables using the business
model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling such financial assets
and hence, they are categorised as financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income under IFRS 9.

FIERERARDA

M20234F }2022F12 3318 K&
M = 9 B A R IR R0 B B AR S 4
RefE A -

AEBERERRENEBES B
BREREHReREREEZS
SREE At RIEERUEHRS
ERIEIFEBEANRAFETA
Hit2mKaF BN REE -

—E-=FEH
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SEMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

21.

22.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised
in their entirety

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has endorsed
certain bills receivable accepted by banks in Mainland
China (the "Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to
such suppliers. The aggregate principal amount of the
outstanding Derecognised Bills as at 31 December 2023
was RMB151,498,000 (2022: RMB152,987,000). The
Derecognised Bills had a maturity of one to six months
at the end of the reporting period. In accordance with
the applicable laws in the PRC, the holders of the
Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against
the Group if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). Nevertheless, in the opinion of the
Directors, the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills as
the credit risk retained by the Group is insignificant.
Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated

21.

BEZRWREREVRREE @)
FERLBANCERERMEE

202312 A318 - AEBEREET#
fEEEZREmAESAREK151,498F
T0(20224F « AR¥E152,987F L) B
FEIAMIRTTES 2/ TRIEE (48
IHERERE ) U BEMZSHER
HE 5N FE R EREER RS
AR —Z= XA A B HR - ARIE P BE A
ER WA ERITEL BRI E
REENFEAGERAAEEIRTER
((FBE2HE])-BEWN EFRE H
RAEBERENEERRILTERK -
WAEBEERERRIIERRENE
REB5 Rk M Bl o Akt - HE A FiE
mﬁtﬁwmﬁmﬁﬁ$ﬁ@u&ﬁ%
B SENFIE - AEEGIFEL MK
ﬁﬁuum#@&ﬁ%@nx—hﬁgﬂlﬁﬁ mﬁﬁmﬂi
BRI REZRABBRKRASENE
RHE -ZEFREA ASERELHK

trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the IHERZERNAFELTERX -
Group’s continuing involvement in the Derecognised Bills
and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In
the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group’s
continuing involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not
significant.
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. FE(EE - RE R EEW
RECEIVABLES g
As at 31 December
MW12H31H8
2023 2022
2022%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AR®ETFTT
Current RE
Other receivables, net of allowance — EMhfEWTRIA  HIBRTELEE
of ECL EEE R 4 174
Other tax receivables At YA TE 11,245 -
Deposits ®e 135 1,946
Prepayments (note (a)) T R IE (M sk (a)) 124,130 4,490
135,514 6,610
Non-current FETRE
Prepayments for property, plant and 4% - BB k&G 2 BN RIE
equipment (note (b)) (FFEE(b)) 42,305 -
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23.

24.

REC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F 12H31HIFF/E
22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

EIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Included in prepayment at 31 December 2023 is advance
payment of approximately RMB53,083,000 made to an
advertiser who is an independent third party for building
the brand of the Chinese baijiu that the Group sells,
and payment of approximately RMB60,000,000 made
to a wine supplier who is an independent third party for
producing the wine.

The prepayments for property, plant and equipment at
31 December 2023 mainly included (i) advance payment
made to a construction vendor who is an independent
third party for the opening of bistros of RMB28,000,000
and (ii) the acquisition of the properties for the office
and research center of the Group's faux leather chemicals
business of approximately RMB10,000,000, which were
fulfilled and completed on 7 February 2024, as disclosed
in note 40.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

22.

23.

ERRIE - RERHEMERRK
H(#)
B 5 -

(@) F2023%F12831BWEMN KB R
M—EBBYE-FEEEXNNIE
P38 4 AR #53,083,0007T JA 4T
EREUARRA—EBLE=FH
BHER S HTEMRIEHARE
60,000,0007T JA 4 & A G °

(b) R2023F12A31EMME BE
%&ﬁi‘ﬁﬁﬁxlﬁzgmﬁ(iﬁ%%ﬁ
BNEEmMA — BB E =
THEAIMNHENREARE

28,000,0007T (i) 7A B 5T 40FF #2
BORASRBAIELERERN
MABERARPLMBOEOAR
#10,000,0007T * B Y88 2 72024
F2R7TEEEK KT

BAVEFABRENESMEE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTR
Listed securities FHES
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong — A &S F 2 IRAREE 5 9,522 7,763

The listed equity securities are classified as current as
the management expects to realise these financial assets
within twelve months after the reporting period. The

listed
deter

equity securities are stated at fair values which are
mined with reference to quoted market bid prices.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

(a)

Cash and cash equivalents

24,

HREREEEHAN SRS R+ @A
NERZESMEE N EMRARFE
FR0BAERY LTRABLRELSZE
MisHREET 2 A TFEYE-

RS RASEMYREERER
TEX
(a) HERBELEEY

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARET T AR T T
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERS 48,952 48,112
FIBERRERAT —ZT-=FF%H

143




144

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Cal=)

Bt %5 R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Cash at banks deposit earn interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates.

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances and cash
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately RMB48,772,000 (2022:
RMB47,092,000). RMB is not a freely convertible
currency in the PRC and the remittance of funds out
of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
PRC government. For the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents denominated in RMB located in Hong
Kong are not subject to the foreign exchange
control.

Pledged bank deposits

As at 31 December 2023, bank deposits of the
Group of approximately RMB4,300,000 (2022:
RMB2,428,000) are pledged as collateral for issuing
bills payables (Note 25).

25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

24. B RREEEYREEFE

TER#E)

(a)

(b)

RERREEEW(E)
RITFFEESRES BIRTTER
MR IZF B R BRENAB

M2023F12A318  REB LA
REAEZRITEB LIRS ALY
A R #48,772,0007T(20224F :

AR #47,092,0007T ) AR
FEWIFATERLBONEE @
R B3R SMNE /B B 5 BT
TE K INE B B R A BOE R - A&
EREBUARBTENERES R
REEBYBASZINEEHIER o

BIEFRITER

M2023%F 128318 A& E 4
A R #4,300,0007T (20224 :
ANE#2,428,00070) KIER1TIF K
BEEE (EAENBITRENK
e (FFE25)-

25. EZENREREARE

As at 31 December

M12H318
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Trade payables B 5 EN A 39,176 60,562
Bills payables FERT % 12,362 8,094
51,538 68,656

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, E2023F12H31H 1L FE

25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued)

The average credit period from suppliers is up to 30 to
90 days. The following is an ageing analysis of trade
payables presented based on the invoice date at the end
of the reporting period:

25. ESRENFERENEREE)
HERIEEA T EEYSEE A308
90K o IR HIK & 5 FE AT 2B i %
=[S HINEBRDTEIT

As at 31 December

M12831H
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARBF T
Within 30 days 30K 19,059 51,577
31 to 90 days 31290K 11,999 6,300
91 to 180 days 91£180K 6,119 1,930
181 to 365 days 1812365k 1,275 283
Over 1 year HBiE1F 724 472
39,176 60,562

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all bills payables are
with a maturity period of less than 6 months.

Bills payables of approximately RMB12,362,000 were
pledged by buildings of approximately RMB20,849,000,
right-of-use assets of approximately of RMB15,558,000
and bank deposit of RMB4,300,000.

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

720234 2022412 A318  FiB &
NRBENZIESEAEDR6@EA -

JERZiE 4 AR B12,362,00070 A4
AR #20,849,000tEF - HAR
#515,558,0007tMIF AEEEMAR
#4,300,000 T ERTTIF VE 37 o

26. EMENRERESEH

As at 31 December

M12H31H

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T R AR®EF T

Accrued staff costs FEETE TR 3,855 1,812
Accrued expenses and other payables — fEztF s & H {th fE ~f 5018

(note (a)) (Hf3E(@)) 8,276 5,224

Other tax payables H iy RS I8 2,372 848

Contract liabilities (note (b)) AHaE(HED) 804 609

15,307 8,493

TIBEERERAT —T=FFRH
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SEMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF
26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

notes:

(a)

(b)

27. DEF

The balances as at 31 December 2023, included amounts
due to non-controlling interests of approximately
RMB3,525,000 (2022: RMB3,525,000), are unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand.

Contract liabilities related to sales of faux leather
chemicals contracts. All contracts are for periods within
one year. Entire amount of the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year was recognised as revenue during
the year 31 December 2023.

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted
approximately to RMB297,000.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amounts of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

The Group received certain amount from customers
as deposits before the sales of faux leather chemicals
contracts are completed.

26. HttENRERETTER (&)

GEE

(a)

(b)

72023F 12 A31 A2 i BRI IE
22 B A 25 FUE 49 A R #53,525,0007T
(20224 : AFR#3,525,0007T) * A
TR R ERERERKERE-

EHBESRATELEREES
H-MBEENEREAE—FRN -F4
BHBENEISENEE2023F
12A318 IEFERBERABBA

R2022F1A1BE a8 EeEA
#) AR ¥5297,0007T °

TECHERANARSBEZBEN
PR

REERATIECEMmEESNT
KRZAE B &P REE THRIBER
B

ERRED INCOME 27. IEEWA

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T AR®EFTT
Assets related governments grants & EMBR BN 3,910 547

Movement of assets related government grants:

BEMABOBUT B

RMB’000

ARBFTT

At 1 January 2022 720221 H18 684
Credited to profit or loss T AEE (137)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 7202212 A31H%2023F1H1H 547
Addition NE 3,500
Credited to profit or loss T ABZE (137)
At 31 December 2023 72023 12H831H 3,910

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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28.

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, Z2023F12H31H IFFZE

27. DEFERRED INCOME (continued) 27. EFEWA (&)
Government grant of approximately RMB1,300,000 was R2017F B WEBUT B A9 A R #E
received in 2017 in relation to the subsidy for acquisition 1,300,000 - £ U i & T 1 25 A 4 B
of certain machinery. B -
Government grant of approximately RMB3,500,000 was R2023F B WM BT B AR
received in 2023 in related to the subsidy for acquisition 3,500,000 T BUBE = T 23 A0 A AL
of certain machinery. B@-
The carrying amount of deferred income of the Group REEREWANREERRS D
analysed for reporting purposes as: DA
As at 31 December
M12831H
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARMT T ARBF T
Current portion TENER 487 137
Non-current portion FERENEL 3,423 410
3,910 547
AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES  28. FE{JREE A T IE
The amounts due to related companies, owned by Mr. JENEEAR(RELAEAHTES
Chen Hua, who is a key management personnel of the BE)HNIEEBIFZE IS  mIKM - 2
Group, are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest free and B NBRENRER -
repayable on demand.
BANK BORROWINGS 29. SRITEE
As at 31 December
M12A831H
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T AR®EF T
Bank borrowings — unsecured RITIEE —mER 15,000 -
Bank borrowings — secured RITEE-FAER 10,000 10,000
Amounts shown under current liabilities 7Eh & & T Ra %8 25,000 -
FEBXEZERERAT —BI=ZFFRH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERMNFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 29. SRITIEE(#E)
According to the repayment schedule, the bank BRIBEENEREX RITEEREZAT

borrowings are repayable as follows:

FFEEE -

As at 31 December

M12A318
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT T AREET T
On demand BEK 15,000 -
Within one year —FE R 10,000 10,000
25,000 10,000

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings of
approximately RMB25,000,000 was denominated in RMB

(2022: RMB10,000,000).

The ranges of effective interest rates (which equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are

as follows:

M2023F12A31H  BITEEHNAR
#25,000,0007C A A REEEHE (2022
10,000,0007T)

AEBBENEREMNE(EREAHF
K)BEWNT :

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
Fixed rate borrowings EEMEEE 3.75% 3.75%
Variable rate borrowings FEAEEE 3.65% -

The Group’s variable-rate borrowings carry interest at AEEIPMNREEREFRERFIX

Loan prime rate -0.55%. Interest is reset every year. 0.55%5T B - Fll&&F EEE °
Assets of the Group pledged to secure the bank ABERIBTEEMEANEASEEE

borrowings comprise: B
As at 31 December
M12831H8

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETR ARBF T
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15,558 16,008
Building ¥ 20,849 22,488

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F 12H31H It F/Z

30. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

31.

The components of deferred tax assets recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the reporting period are as follows:

30.

EEBTEEE
AR BN E N HERE BT EE
EHD RBEHAHZHT

Provision of

impairment

WERE

RMB’000

ARKETFTT

At 1 January 2022 202291 H1H 445
Credited to profit or loss (note 12) ST ABE(MEE12) 336
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2022912 A31H X2023F1 A 1H 781
Credited to profit or loss (note 12) ST ABE(MEE12) 836
At 31 December 2023 72023%F12H831H 1,617

Note:

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of approximately RMB27,222,000 (2022:
RMB22,010,914) of unused tax losses arising in Hong Kong due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Such losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing incentives and/
or rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
of the Scheme include any directors and employees of
the Company, including all executive directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries. The Scheme became
effective on 10 February 2020 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

31.

B &L

R2023F 12 A31H - R REETRRIR %
FHOR - W BB EBELE 2 REAFIE
BB A AR #27,222,0007T (20224 : A
R 22,010,914 ) ERIELEFRIBEE -
ZEBEERBPEE-

RS
ARBRAERETE(FE]) B
HERAHAEEEERIELERZA
BERSEERHEEBHERER- %
e A ERSEERBEAAR/IEM
E=kEE BREARRNMENBLR
BIMPATERITEF - 51 810202042
A10B AR BRIFERTTRMEHERT
BRI EZBEEI0FAER

FIBXRERARNE —Bo=FFH
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e B ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

B Z2023F12H31HIFFZE

31.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
option in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

The share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their subsidiaries, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the
date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 14 days from the date of the offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
would be determined by the directors. The exercise
price of the share options would be determined by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer of the share options, which must
be a business day; and (ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer,
provided that the subscription price shall not be lower
than the nominal value of the shares.

Following the effect of the Share Consolidation as
referred to in note 32 on 30 May 2023, the options
may be granted under the Schemes shall not exceed
20,000,000 Shares.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Company did not grant any share options to directors,
employees or other parties. There were no outstanding
share options as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. |7
Details of movements of share capital of the Company RABRRARESFBFLOT -
are as follows:
Number of Share
shares capital
RAHE [N
RMB'000
AREFTT
Authorised: AT
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, ®2022%618108 - 20225128318
1 January 2023, ordinary share of 202351818 SRE{E0.0005% T
US$0.0005 each V& B 2,000,000,000 6,700
Share consolidation (note (b)) AR (1,600,000,000) -
Increase in authorised share capital (note (b)) & IETERA(H5E(b)) 1,600,000,000 28,327
At 31 December 2023, ordinary share 7202356128310 - §RAEE0.0025
of US$0.0025 each ETHL AR 2,000,000,000 35,027
Issued and fully paid: BEREITRAR -
At 1 January 2022, ordinary share #2022 1718 SR E{E0.0005% T
of US$0.0005 each )L R 1,200,000,000 4,152
Placing of new shares (note (a)) B &G (M) 240,000,000 810
At 31 December 2022, and 1 January 2023, 20225124318 &2023F1 418 -
ordinary share of US$0.0005 each FREE0.0005F T E B 1,440,000,000 4,962
Share Consolidation (note (b)) B & Gf (EE(b)) (1,152,000,000) -
Shares issued under rights issue (note (c)) BRI TR D (B 3H(C)) 432,000,000 7,743
At 31 December 2023, ordinary share 72023F12A318 - R E(E0.00255%
of US$0.0025 each TUR)E B 720,000,000 12,705
Notes: Bt 5
(@ On 29 August 2022, the Company completed a share (@) 2022 8F29H KRN B K IR
placing for an aggregate for 240,000,000 shares at a REBER0180E THBIIEE
placing price of HK$0.180 per share to independent & i & 4 +240,000,0008% I% 10 2
investors. The gross proceeds from the placing R E -BRE 2B RNBEHESE
was approximately HK$43,200,000 (equivalent to 543,200,000 T (HHE R AR
RMB37,485,000), the net proceeds was approximately 37,485,0007T) " TS X IBE E5 A
HK$42,580,000 (equivalent to RMB36,948,000) and #942,580,000/& 7T (HHE N AR
HK$41,645,000 (equivalent to RMB36,138,000) was 36,948,0007T) M 41,645,000/
recognised at share premium. Details of the placement are 7T (HE N AR®36,138,0007T) &
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 August WO HEBER BEILE 255
2022. # 5N A2 T B H 5202298829
HzR&e
TIBEERERAT —T=FFRH
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r e B IS HROR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

32. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) )
Notes: (continued) Misk: (&)

(b)

(0

(d)

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

On 30 May 2023, the Company implemented share
consolidation and increase in authorised share capital,
which involves the following:

(i) Every five issued and unissued existing share
("Existing Share(s)”) of par value of US$0.0005 each
will be consolidated into one share of par value of
US$0.0025 each (the “Consolidated Shares”).

(i) Following the Share Consolidation, in order to
increase the issued share capital of the Company
the authorised share capital of the Company
was increased from US$1,000,000 (divided into
2,000,000,000 Existing Shares) to US$5,000,000
(divided into 10,000,000,000 Existing Shares) (or
2,000,000,000 Consolidated Shares upon the
Share Consolidation) (“Increase in Authorised Share
Capital”).

Details of the Consolidated Shares and Increase
in Authorised Share Capital were contained in the
Company’s announcements dated 5 March 2023, 14 April
2023, 18 April 2023, 5 May 2023, 12 May 2023, 29 May
2023 and 30 May 2023.

On 28 July 2023, the Company issued the rights issue on
the basis of three rights shares (the “Right Shares”) for
every two shares amounted to 432,000,000 Right Shares
of HK$0.67 to independent parties for the development
of the Chinese Ligquor Business and support the Faux
Leather Chemicals Business. The net proceeds from the
rights issue was approximately RMB263,580,000 and
RMB255,837,000 was recognised as share premium.
Details of the rights issue were contained in the
Company’s announcements dated 5 March 2023, 18 April
2023, 5 May 2023, 9 June 2023, 3 July 2023 and 27 July
2023.

All the shares issued ranked pari passu in all respects with
the existing shares in issue.

2023 Annual Report

(d)

M2023%F5H308 ' AR A EHED
A RIEIETERRA & H o KA
THIHE:

() BEBREETERABITER
M {H0.0005% L 2 B R H
(REBRHBEHE K
FRT{E0.00253 T 2 A BHI%
M (T&HRNn]) -

(i PBEROEHE BENAR
RIZEBEEITRA BARQA
2 A TER% 7N 11,000,000 7T
(% 72,000,000,0000% 38 &
% {7 ) 1% hn =5,000,0003 T
(% %A10,000,000,000/% 3R &
frtn) (ks & HFEBIE
2,000,000,000/% & B 17 )
(MG hEERA]) »

EHFRG RIBIMEERAR ZFFIE
RN A AR HEA202343H58 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE2023F 12H31HIFF/E
33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 33. B ERIELENEBYHER

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details the cash flows and

TRAVAEERETDELENEE

non-cash changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from WIREMERIERSE T - Br T
financing activities. Except as disclosed below, there were BEN XEERETHEENAR
no non-cash changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from WEIER &8 -

financing activities.

Amounts due

to related Bank
companies borrowings Total
PE £+
BEARRE RITEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETTT ARETT
At 1 January 2022 M202251A1RH - - -
Change from financing cash MEBEREEE
flows:
Interest paid ERFE - (403) (403)
Proceeds from bank borrowings  $R{TEEFTSHIE - 10,000 10,000
Advance from a related company BJ#E A RIEHK 447 - 447
447 9,597 10,044
Other change: Hibstg) -
Interest expense FERX - 403 403
At 31 December 2022 720226128318
and 1 January 2023 %2023F181H 447 10,000 10,447
Change from financing cash flows: FEEEREEE)
Interest paid BRFE - (688) (688)
Proceeds from bank borrowings — $R{TEEMEHIE - 25,000 25,000
Repayment of bank borrowings ~ EEE1TEE - (10,000) (10,000)
Advance from related companies  BJiE A B1E 1,006 - 1,006
1,006 14,312 15,318
Other change: Hitn &%) :
Interest expense MERX - 688 688
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12H31H 1,453 25,000 26,453
wIExnReRA" —e-=fe8 |53
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BB RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  34.
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the

154

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

KRB BN R R HE

(a) ARFMBARRRE

Company
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Wz ARE®ETT ARETC
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries R—KH B R RN E 36,000 36,000
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 4,635 7,171
Prepayments and TE R & E At FE R IE
other receivables 81 2,498
Amounts due from subsidiaries  JEUSIE A B FIE 322,915 55,044
Financial assets at FVTPL HAFEETABZEZNSE
BE 9,522 7,763
Bank balances and cash RITEM NI 86 889
337,239 73,365
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals HhEN B R ETER 3,880 737
Amounts due to subsidiaries Sl NG R 2,791 2,791
6,671 3,528
Net current assets REBEEFE 330,568 69,837
Total assets less HEERRBEE
current liabilities 366,568 105,837
Net assets BEEFE 366,568 105,837
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital &% 2 12,705 4,962
Reserves & 353,863 100,875
366,568 105,837

2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ara B RS 3RR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £20234F 1231 H 1 F/Z

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34, XA TR R KK HE (&)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) EATREEE
Share Exchange Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses equity

KiiiE B E Rt BB £ 5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETE ARKTRT ARETT AR%TR

At 1 January 2022 20221 718 166,720 (602) (74,305) 91,813
Loss for the year FRNEE - - (29,783) (29,783)
Other comprehensive income — FRE {1 2 EUA

for the year - 2,707 - 2,707

Total comprehensive income  FRZ2EMRA LS

for the year - 2,707 (29,783) (27,076)
Issue of shares under placing  1R{EECEETHD 36,675 - - 36,675
Transaction costs attributable to 1R IEA & 31T/

issue to shares under placing {5 S A (537) - - (537)

At 31 December 2022 and W2022%12A318 %

1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 202,858 2,105 (104,088) 100,875
Loss for the year FRNEE - - (3,360) (3,360)
Other comprehensive loss FREMZEBE

for the year - 511 - 511

Total comprehensive loss FR2EBRER
for the year - 511 (3,360) (2,849)

Issue of shares from rights issue  1R{F (AR EE TR 258,305 - - 258,305
Transaction costs attributable  IRIEHEARETTR G

to issue of shares from rights  FE{53 SAA

issue (2,468) - - (2,468)

At 31 December 2023 720236 12A318 458,695 2,616 (107,448) 353,863

wrmxersmas —s-=2¢8% |55
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(c) Distributability of reserves

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company may be
applied for payment of distributions or dividends to
shareholders provided that immediately following
the date on which the distribution or dividend is
proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The aggregate amount of distributable reserves
of the Company as at 31 December 2023 was
RMB351,247,000 (2022: RMB98,770,000).

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES
TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions
and balances with its related parties during the reporting
period:

(a) Recurring transactions

34. KRB BEMRRERRREE &)

() fEzoE
REFSBESQRE AARH
P34 18R] A IR IR 32 A 20 I
AR R A DR
HALE 2 AHIR - AR R]ZAREH
RBEEEBBREPZNEHNE
75 o

AARA2023F12A318 21
HORREBESBEAARK
351,247F 7t(20224F : AR ¥
98,770 7T )°

35. EXBEBEIRS

BEAMBEmRTEMBHANES
S REER R E N R E T T
MR 5 KRR -

(a) BEMRS
Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31HLLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB"000
AR TR AR®EF T
Sales of faux leather chemicals to a A— & MEFHE AL E(L
related party Z2m
— Hanzhou Sunlight Biochemical —IMNRE £V EIE R
Material Co., Ltd.* (note (@) ANGILGEO) 1,206 587
Rental expenses to a related party ¥ —HEEFTHHASFET
— Hanzhou Qiyue Investment — MM EERGR
Management Co., Ltd.* (ote®) 73 m) HEED 1,350 400
* English name is for identification purpose only. * B ABEHBA -

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Recurring transactions (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The Group has entered into sales agreement with
Hangzhou Sunlight Biochemical Material Co., Ltd.
for the sales of faux leather chemicals at market
terms with other customers.

(i) Hangzhou Sunlight Biochemical Material
Co., Ltd. is partly owned by Hangzhou Qiyue
Investment Management Co., Ltd and Mr.
Chen Hua is a key management personnel of
the Group.

In 2023 and 2022, the Group entered into lease
agreement and supplemental lease agreement with
Hangzhou Qiyue Investment Management Co.,
Ltd. for a term commenced on 1 January 2022
and ended on 30 June 2022; and 1 July 2022 and
ended on 31 December 2022 for the lease of the
leased premise (the “Leased Premises”). The Group
further entered into supplemental lease agreement
to extend lease term commenced on 1 January
2023 and ended on 30 June 2023; and 1 July 2023
and ended on 31 December 2023 (collectively, the
“Lease Agreement”). The rent payable under the
Lease Agreement was determined with reference to
the prevailing market rent for similar properties at
the same development and in neighbouring areas at
which the leased premises are located, such that the
rent payable under the Lease Agreement is fair and
reasonable and consistent with the market rent for
similar premises in similar locations. The transaction
contemplated under the Lease Agreement is
fully exempt from shareholders’ approval and all
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

(i)  Hangzhou Qiyue Investment Management
Co., Ltd. is owned by Mr. Chen Hua.

35. EXBAEL RS (&)

(a)

FIERERARDA

KL
mnr

(a)

(b)

EHERS
B s

/|

435 )
&)

—~

AEEE B BT NREE AR
BIRDBRIHE W - AIZ
MGHERAEBEFPHEAT
El2me

iy MINFEEDHHER
ARAMMNBEREE
B R QR B ¥ER A
MREEERTIEZER
=

A20234F K20224F  AEE
RHEAHEDE([HEY
XDHEMMNBBEEERS
BRA RIS E R ki
E 1% BIBR 2022491 A1
H#E Z2022F6 A30R % -
20229718 # 22022912
AR R -AEBHE—F
v ERE UEER
FHER- R2023F1A1BESE
202346 A30H I &20234
7H1B#£E2023F12A31H
I (HmEIAEHE]) BRI
HEWREN 2HE2ZH
EVEMEMIREERIEE
HEMENEAmSHESE
T ALRERERRENZ
HEBAFAE HBEERE
HEMEHMSHES -
EHBE T RETRSEELE
eET EmBRAE4ATED
MRERHE R T A BT

(i) MINBBREEEER
NREIHRELLEEGH
Ho

—E-=FEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12H31H It F/E

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Compensation of key management

35.

EXRBELXRZ (#)

(b) EEEBEAEHM

personnel
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31HLLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EZEREDEF
in kind 2,798 2,225
Contributions to retirement RIREFIFT 85K
benefits schemes 44 45
2,842 2,270
36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. EARKIE

Capital commitments of the Group as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements were as follows:

7K £ B 7220234 K2022%F12831H
RAREGEEVBRERPIELBEHE R
AENOT

As at 31 December

M12831H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBFTT
Contracted but not provided for BRT#B R BB
— Purchase of property, plant —BEVE BER&E
and equipment 1,614 1,044

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2023 Annual Report




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

37. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group has established the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for its Hong Kong
employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
in funds which are under the control of independent
trustees. The retirement benefit scheme contributions
charged to profit or loss represent contributions paid
or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5% of each
of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at
HK$30,000. In addition, the PRC employees employed by
the Group are members of the state-managed retirement
benefit schemes operated by the PRC Government. The
Group is required to contribute at certain percentage
of the eligible employees’ salaries to the retirement
benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
schemes is to make the required contributions under the
schemes. At 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were
no forfeited contributions available to reduce future
obligations. The total contributions made by the Group
to the MPF Scheme and the PRC retirement benefit
schemes (excluding directors’ remuneration) for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are RMB3,579,000 (2022:
RMB3,319,000).

37. RKEFETE

AEEE AEEBRERIAHMEATE
ST EI([REETE - &t ENEE
UBYERAEENESEADHAF
B oREENBRARNEFFEIERA
AEBIZESEE LS A30,0008 5
FRHERE A WAS%E Mk fER &t
SRR N AEBRBANTEE
B2 MAFBEBATE OB RERR
KEFETE - AEBARAERREES
B — L) £ R KR T 5T 817 it
U NZERFEBER - KEBRZ
LRIKENGFTEIZ M — BT BREZAT
ZI1E 48 TF B9 (3R - 120234 %2022
F12A31H  WEAJARNRDRKES
AR IR Bk e B 220235125318
IEFE  AEEARESFEI P BER
REEFFEEL 2 R R BECIBIRE
EH M) A& A R ¥3,579,00071(2022
& AR#£3,319,0007T)°

FIBXRERARNE —Bo=FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF
38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of
incorporation

38.

FEWBATFE
R2023F M202FF BB A A 2
E3-pUNNE

Attributable equity
interest and voting

and principal place Registered/ power held by the Principal
Name of Subsidiary of operation paid up capital Company activities
A B R B SmER/ ARRHEN
WRAR AR URTEEXMH BRRE BlaRERREE TEEH
2023 2022
2023% 20226
WL REF M AR AR AR PRC, 18 December 2003 RMB90,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing
Zhejiang Sunlight Material and sales of faux
Technology Co., Ltd* leather chemicals
("Zhejiang Sunlight”)
HIRESMMERRAERAR  RE 2003F12818R AEH 100% 100% BERHEALE
(DWIRE]) 90,000,000 t2m
FEREZERERAR PRC, 12 January 2022 RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
(note)
BEREARERAT HE - 2022618128 ARE 100% 100% HEZK
(FtE) 3,000,0007T
ENMFHTEBEERAF PRC, 30 March 2022 RMBS5,000,000 70.5% 70.5% Manufacturing and
sales of Chinese
baijiu
EMBHERBEBRAA FE - 202243A30H AR% 70.5% 70.5% BUEREERE
5,000,0007T
BETHAFELRXEBRAA PRC, 3 March 2023 RMBS5,000,000 100% - Manufacturing and
sales of Chinese
baijiu
BRINFEBEERAR HE - 2023F3A3H ARE HERHERE
5,000,0007T

note: Registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprises under the
PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets of the Group.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, Z2023F12H31H IFFZE
39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED 39, BESE AFERESWIEDSE

SUBSIDIARY THAT HAVE MATERIAL KNG R
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Summarised financial information in respect of & M FRASEBRBEERFEEREZNE
TEBEAR DA, which the Group has material non- N EEREBERAR 2T EER
controlling interests, is set out below. The non-controlling MEERTIAT o JEERIE R FF B Z M
interests held 29.5% of ownership interests and voting B RRZ29.5%MHE RIRFEHE - RIT
rights in the subsidiary. The summarised financial REBERSFTBERGRENEIMNT M
information of &Nt FEHZEBR QA prepared in TEBEXEBRAT U BERBMEN
accordance with the material accounting policies of the N

Group are as follows:

BENBELEIEBEXARAF

Financial information of statement of profit or ERBREMAERSEGEEL
loss and other comprehensive income

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Revenue WA 217,377 241,191
Cost of sales BHE R (130,309) (88,254)
Expenses X (61,853) (69,593)
Reversal of/(impaired loss) on trade B 5 WA 2 RERIERE
receivables OREEBE) 531 (531)
Profit before taxation B 5 BT Vi ) 25,746 82,813
Income tax expense FriSfiA (7.364) (22,585)
Profit for the year R 18,382 60,228
Profit and total comprehensive AR A A F A F &
income for the year attributable to: ZHIRALLRE -
Equity holders of the Company NARIREZEZE A 12,959 42,461
Non-controlling interests of the REEFEERER
Group 5,423 17,767
18,382 60,228

FIREERERAR —g-=s58 |6



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE20234F12H31H1FF/E

39. BEEAKEZERERNIEZE

39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED

L A

SUBSIDIARY THAT HAVE MATERIAL M~ BEFE (&)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
EMNFHEEBREGR AT
Financial information of statement of financial BBk AR BEER
position
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR T AREEF T
Non-current assets ERBEE - 79
Current assets MBEE 120,836 143,261
Current liabilities mBaE (37,227) (78,112)
83,609 65,228
Equity attributable to: AT AT :
Equity holders of the Company NATIRESER A 58,944 45,986
Non-controlling interests of the REE IR ER
Group, representing accumulated ERF R E QA
non-controlling interests of the 2 BEtIFtER iz
subsidiary at the end of the year 24,665 19,242
83,609 65,228
Financial information of statement of cash flows RERBRUBEH
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from ST BIE R A (R ) S5
operating activities 84,666 (6,093)
Net cash outflow from investing activity %& /&8I &7 1 E 58 (120,000) -
Net cash inflow from financing activities Fi& /FENIR &R A FEE
—included in consolidated statement  —:(tALGEBREREE
of cash flows - 1,475
— eliminated on consolidation — B R 2,266 38,515
2,266 39,990
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be(Rd)/ RAFE (33,068) 33,897

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £, £2023F12H31H IF F/&F

40. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 9 October 2023, the Group entered into a property
transfer agreement with Hangzhou Qiyue Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (the “Vendor"”), pursuant to which
the Group has conditionally agreed to acquire and the
Vendor has conditionally agreed to transfer all rights and
risks of the premises located at Zhejiang Province, the
PRC (the “Properties”) to the Group at a consideration
of RMB30,000,000. The Vendor is owned by Mr. Chen
Hua. Mr. Chen Hua is a director and a shareholder of the
Company.

The purpose of the acquisition of the Properties is due
to part of the Properties have long been the office and
research center of the Group’s faux leather chemicals
business, the acquisition of the Properties is in line
with the long-term business strategies of the Group.
The property transfer agreement has been fulfilled and
completion took place on 7 February 2024.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 9 October 2023, 29 November 2023, 29 December
2023, 31 January 2024 and 19 February 2024 and
circular dated 10 November 2023.

40. FEHRREE

7R2023F 105908 » 2 5% B & i N AR
MIEEERERARTBES DY
¥BEHHE BUASEEBEGR
EREEREFEAKGERERAEE
HREUNPBINTA Z2ZSEWE(Z
EMED2FAERENERRE  RER
A R #30,000,0007T ° B 75 ALK
E(HRESEERERS) 2 —RAIKR
RoBRELERARNB ZEERKRE -

WREZSEMEZENTHREZSME
ZEHARHAUKR—BERAEBALE
ICEREKOPRRERFEFRL K
BZEVERAAEENRBESRR
B - EE IR O EER R TKRE
20242 A7TE1EE -

FIBEHNAARQE B EA2023F10A
9H - 2023911 H298 * 20234124
29H - 20241 A31H Kk202442H
198 2 A& A K B8 A2023F11A8
108 2B -

FIBXRERARNE —Bo=FFH
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Five Year Financial Summary

EIFHMBRE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F12H31H IF F/ZF

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the ~ RNEESF A EMKEENEEREER
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the  BEHME(HEAE TIRNREZES MK
published audited consolidated financial statements is set out B )EY T
below:
RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December
EZNA31BLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARETT ARETRT AR®Tx ARBTR
Revenue A 570,572 501,437 233,945 134,441 182,681
Profit/(loss) before taxation AT,/ (EB) 35,637 62,667 (1,476) (2,788) 28,976
Income tax expenses Fri5fiE s (10,763) (23,049) (1,124) (369) (4,852)
Profit/(loss) for the year EREH,/ (BB) 24,874 39,618 (2,600) (3,157) 24,124
Profit/(loss) for the year ARABEBEARGEE
attributable to owners #wH,/ (B8)
of the Company 19,451 21,851 (2,600) (3,157) 24,124
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
®12A318
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 20224 20214 20205 20194
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AEETT AREFTT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Total assets BEE 737,591 446,378 313,174 264,007 205,671
Total liabilities BEE (99,005) (95,995) (43,595) (26,656) (61,365)
Total equity @igs 638,586 350,383 269,579 237,351 144,306

The summary above does not form part of the audited

consolidated financial statements.
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